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ABouT THE COMPANY

Psychiatric.Solutions, Inc. (Nasdaq: PSYS) offers an extensive con-
tinuum of behavioral health programs to critically ill children, ado-
lescents and adults through its ownership and operation of free-

- standing psychiatric inpatient facilities and its management of psy-
chiatric upits within general acute care hospitals. PS! currently

owns and operates || freestanding inpatient facilities and man-

ages 49 psychiatric units.




LETTER TO STOCKHOLDERS: -~

FELLOW STOCKHOLDERS:

We are pleased to report in our first letter to stockholders that 2002 was a year of successful and profitable
growth for Psychiatric Solutions. In addition to strong financiai results, PSI's other accomplishments for 2002
included its becoming a publicly held company through the August 5th merger with PMR Corporation and, with

“the July I'st acquisition of Riveredge Hospital in Chicago, the completion of its fifth acquisition of an inpatient

psychiatric facility in less than a year. We also strengthened our ability to implement our strategies for becoming
the nation’s leading provider of inpatient behavioral healtl"f‘-‘services by completing a $20 million private placement
of mezzanine debt during the year and expanding the Company’s Board of Directors.

As a result of our efforts in 2002 to prepare for future growth, we announced in February 2003 the acquisition
of six inpatient facilities that will more than double the number of inpatient beds that we had in operation at the
end of 2002, to nearly 1,500 from approximately 700. We believe this transaction reflects the significant growth
opportunities in the behavioral health services industry and our ability to act on these opportunities in pursuit
of our long-term growth objectives. In February 2003, we also closed a $25 million private placement of
convertible preferred stock, the proceeds of which will be used to fund the acquisition of freestanding psychiatric
facilities. After a review of our 2002 financial results and our current expectations for 2003, we will discuss in
greater detail the key factors supporting our ability to achieve these objectives.

For 2002, SussTANTIAL PROFITABLE GROWTH MEETs HiGH END OF EXPECTATIONS

Revenue for 2002 increased 158.9% to $113,912,000 from $43,999,000 for 200!. Income from continuing
operations for 2002 increased 155.2% to $5,684,000 from income from continuing operations, before
extraordinary item, for 2001 of $2,227,000. Income from continuing operations per diluted share rose |04.8%
to $0.86 from income from continuing operations, before extraordinary item, per diluted share of $0.42. Net
income for 2002 was $5,684,000, up 120.5% from $2,578,000 for 2001, and net income per diluted share rose
75.5% to $0.86 from $0.49.

Our revenue growth for 2002 was primarily driven by the acquisitions of four inpatient psychiatric facilities during
the last four months of 2001, as well as by the PMR and Riveredge transactions in 2002. While still relatively early

in our history with the five acquired inpatient facilities, we were encouraged by the increase in admissions at the

+facilities for 2002 versus 2001.

- The earnings guidance we provided for 2002, of $0.40 to $0.48, was based on fully taxed pro forma results,

- excluding nonrecurring items. These pro forma results assumed both that the PMR and Riveredge acquisitions
* were effective January |,2002,and that PS| paid income tax for the year using an effective rate of 40%. PSI's fully
é‘éaxed pro forma net income, excluding nonrecurring items, was $4,005,000, or $0.47 per diluted share, for 2002,
_and-pro-forma-revenue was $141,075,000. The nonrecurring items included a gain of $1,964,000 ($1,178,000 after
-tax) in.recoveries of allowance for doubtful accounts from PMR’s collection of fully reserved accounts receivable
i ‘and’a gain of $609,000 ($365,000 after tax) related to PMR’s sales of assets prior to the merger with PS.




For 2003, EXPECTED ORGANIC GROWTH AND ADDITIONAL ACQUISITION DRIVE SUBSTANTIAL
INCREASE IN EARNINGS GUIDANCE -

"PSP's earnings guidance for 2003 is based primarily on further expected organic growth in the five inpatient
‘ facilities and the managed units that we operated at the end of 2002 combined with the anticipated contribution
j from the six-facility acquisition announced in February 2003, which produced 2002 revenues of $76 million. Ve
| expect this combination to produce fully taxed net income per diluted share, excluding nonrecurring items, in a
range of $0.55 to $0.60 for 2003. This guidance assumes the Company completes’ no further acquisitions and
includes the impact of thev$‘275#mi|lion convertible ;Sreferred stock placement approved subsequent to the end of
2002, which will add approximately 4.5 million additional common stock equivalents to our diluted shares

outstanding as it is funded in April and July 2003. ‘
Key FACTORS SUPPORTING PSI’'s GROWTH PROSPECTS

Compelling industry fundamentals — The inpatient behavioral health services industry today is highly

fragmented and capacity constrained due to the significant contraction the industry underwent during the 1990s.

However, as the decade ended, key industry metrics, such as average length of stay, admissions and

reimbursement, stabilized or began to improve. As a result of this trend, 2001 represented the fourth consecutive

year of average lengths of stay in the nine to ten day range. In addition, industry statistics show an | 1.4% increase
‘ in admissions for 2001 over 2000 and a 9.6% increase in average reimbursement rates.

A number of factors account for the rise in demand that has been the basis for these improved industry trends.
Among other factors, there has been a growing recognition of the seriousness and prevalence of behavioral health
issues, as reflected by the spread of mental health parity laws to 32 states and by the continuing debate on mental
health parity at the federal level. These laws, as well as the growth of the U.S. population, have pushed the number
of Americans with coverage by some form of behavioral managed health care plan to more than 200 million,
according to industry analysts. At the same time, the expansion of industry capacity through increasing inpatient
beds has not kept pace with growth in demand because of tough certificate of need processes, lack of funding,
the conversion-of many psychiatric inpatient facilities to other uses and the difficulties of building new psychiatric

facilities in urban environments, among other reasons.

Despite these compelling supply and demand fundamentals, the inpatient behavioral health services industry
remains underserved and very fragmented with fewer than five for-profit companies, including PSI, that operate
10 or more inpatient psychiatric facilities. These five largest providers together account for less than 20% of the
approximately 500+ free-standing psychiatric and substance abuse hospitals in the country.

Substantial consolidation opportunity — Recognizing the significant changes occurring in the inpatient

behavioral health services industry, PSI began to focus its resources on the inpatient market through acquisitions
of psychiatric unit management businesses in 1999 and 2000, followed by its initial freestanding inpatient facility

acquisitions in late 2001. Today, as the only public company focused exclusively on inpatient behavioral health

“ "services, we believe there is a substantial opportunity for PSI to consolidate the fragmented inpatient market by

" increasing market share through both organic growth and acquisitions. As PSI achieves greater critical mass

 through such consolidation, we expect to enhance the industry’s capacity to meet rising demand for high quality,

cost effective inpatient services, while consistently building value for our stockholders.




i

PSi's strategies for consolidating the industry depend first on producing organic growth in the facilities the
Company already owns and operates. We seek to expand revenues at each facility by leveraging our strong
market position to increase admissions, census and reimbursement. To achieve this goal, we primarily focus on

more intensive marketing and promotion of the facility, capacity expansions within successful existing programs,

the introduction of new programs and the recruitment of additional inpatient psychiatrists and other behavioral

health specialists. We also review and renegotiate, when appropriate, existing payor agreements.

We strongly believe that our long-term success in expanding revenues through increased market share will

depend on our providing the highest quality of services. We are fundamentally committed to prowdmg this level
of quality to each of our patients, and we believe this-commitment is reflected by the tremendously dedicated
and talented employees, physicians and other healthcare professionals treating patients in our facilities every day.

In addition to the positive impact of increased revenues, we focus on enhancing the profitability of each facility
through increased operating efficiencies. Among other steps, we bring each facility into our group-purchasing
cooperative to reduce supplies expenses, and we consistently review operations to optimize staffing ratios and
total compensation expense, our largest operating cost. As a result of this overall process, we expect to operate
not only high quality but also highly efficient facilities that provide a consistent and significant contribution to the
Company’s profitable growth.

Our second channel for industry consolidation is through the selective acquisition of both single and multi-facility
operations. Because the success of our organic growth strategy is inherently tied to the quality of the operations
we acquire, we rigorously apply acquisition criteria to ensure that acquired operations:

* occupy the leading or second-strongest market position in growing, urban areas and that they have low existing
capital expenditure requirements;

*» operate a minimum of 50 licensed beds;
* have a positive EBITDA; and

*and possess the clear potential for future growth in revenues and profits through the implementation of our
organic growth strategies.

PSP's acquisition strategy targets the acquisition of four to six freestanding inpatient psychiatric facilities each year.
We have already met this goal for 2003 through the purchase of six facilities from The Brown Schools during April
2003. We continue to evaluate additional transactions from an identified pipeline of approximately 50 potential
acquisition candidates, and we are confident of our prospects for announcing new acquisitions in 2003.

i

”»Veteran management team and experienced Board of Directors — PS| has purposefully built a veteran

management team with in-depth health care expertise to support its ability to manage substantial growth. The

¥ average health care industry experience of the Company’s top eight officers is over |9 years. The strength of this

;.teamils complemented by the Company’s Board of Directors, which is composed of experlenced health care
1k
lndustcy executives, as well as senior executives of venture capital firms and financial services companies that have

1nanced our growth. The hard work and commitment of these people has contributed substantially to the

, through our senior management team and our Board, we have the human capntal to achieve our goal of becoming

the’ leadlng provider of inpatient behavioral health services in the United States.

'Companys historical growth and to its ability to pursue the opportunities before it. We are confident that,




Funded growth strategy — A critical element of our ability to negotiate and close acquisitions is the availability
of financing to complete the transactions. We strengthened our capability in 2002 through a private placement
! of $20 million in senior subordinated notes with Brown Brothers Harriman. Ve had stockholders equity of $31
million at the end of the year, a position we strengthened in February 2003 through a private placement of $25
million of convertible preferred stock. We were very pleased that one of our founding investors, Oak investment
Partners participated in this offering, as did Salix Ventures and Brown Brothers Harriman. We view this follow-
on investment by financially sophisticated, professional investment firms as a confirmation of the potential

Tj inherent in PSI's business model, management team and growth strategies.
PS!I financed the $63 million cash acquisition of -the six inpatient facilities from The Brown Schools primarily
through an expansion of its revolving and term load credit facilities with its senior bank, CapitalSource Finance,
|
o and through half of the proceeds from the convertible preferred stock placement. Subsequent to this transaction,
Bl we believe we retain the capacity to nearly double the number of inpatient facilities we have in operation through

additional availability from our existing debt and equity placements and credit facilities, as well as from internally

generated cash.

SUMMARY

E We are ever mindful of the overwhelming human need for the high quality services we provide. One cannot help
v but recognize when visiting PSl's facilities that the patients we help every day are our children, our parents and
grandparents, our friends. We are inspired by the absolute dedication of our employees that serve these people,
and we share their unyielding commitment to providing the best treatment possible to their patients. As business

: people, too, we believe that it is this very commitment that will most contribute to PSl's continuing success and

to the growth in its stockholder value.

Sincerely,

Joey Jacobs
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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PARTI i
All references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Psychiatric Solutions,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” or
our” mean, unless the context otherwise requires, Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

“

Item 1. Business

Overview

- «-n. Psychiatric_Solutions is -a leading provider of behavioral health care services-in—the United States. As of
December 31, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions owned and operated five free-standing psychiatric facilities which
provided psychiatric services to patients in the Houston, Texas; Austin, Texas; Raleigh, North Carolina; and
Chicago, Illinois areas and managed 48 psychiatric units fop third party acute care hospitals in 14 states. Psychiatric
Solutions also has a contract to provide mental health case management services to approximately 4,300 children
and adults with serious mental iliness in the Nashville, Tennessee area. Psychiatric Solutions’ objective is to provide
high-quality, cost-effective psychiatric services in the communities it serves. Through its managed and freestanding
psychiatric facilities, Psychiatric Solutions offers a comprehensive array of behavioral health programs to critically
ill children, adolescents and adults.

Psychiatric Solutions initially developed a services-oriented, broad-based platform to provide both inpatient and
outpatient behavioral health care services. These services included psychiatric physician practice management,
outpatient treatment facilities, employee assistance plans and psychiatric contract management services to general
acute care hospitals. During the first two years of operations, Psychiatric Solutions’ management made strategic
acquisitions, evaluated their primary business lines and witnessed significant change in the market for behavioral
health providers.

In 1999, management began to reposition Psychiatric Solutions to focus on inpatient hospital settings. To that
end, two post-acute geropsychiatric unit management companies, Cornerstone Behavioral Health Management and
Sunrise Behavioral Health, Ltd., were acquired in 1999 and 2000, respectively. Psychiatric Solutions discontinued
its physician practice management unit and related activities during 2000 and sold its employee assistance plan
division in 2001. In 2001, Psychiatric Solutions continued its focus on the ownership of inpatient facilities by
acquiring four freestanding specialty hospitals. On July 1, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions acquired its fifth inpatient
facility.

The Company was incorporated in the State of Delaware in 1988. Our principal executive offices are located at
© 113 Seaboard Lane, Suite C-100, Franklin, Tennessee 37067. Our telephone-number is {615) 312-5700.

; '; ! Recent Developments

[ Th; Brown Schools Acquisition. On February 13, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions signed a definitive agreement for

= | the purchase of six psychiatric facilities from The Brown Schools, Inc. for $63 million in cash. The six facilities,

- which have an aggregate of 790 beds, are located in Austin, San Antonio and San Marcos, Texas; Charlottesville,
" Virginia; Colorado Springs, Colorado; and Tulsa, Oklahoma. For 2002, the facilities produced combined revenues
-1* of $76 million. Psychiatric Solutions expects to consummate the transaction, which is subject to customary closing
- |, conditions, on April 1, 2003. Completion of certain health care regulatory matters may delay the purchase of one of
11 the facilities until mid-April.

23 Mililion Private Placement Of Convertible Preferred Stock. On February 4, 2003 Psychiatric Solutions’
cholders approved the private placement of $25 million of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the
referred stock”) with affiliates of Oak Investment Partners and Salix Ventures and with Brown Brothers Harriman
>0}’s The. 1818 Mezzanine Fund II, L.P. The investors are current investors in Psychiatric Solutions, with Oak

&

estment Partners and Salix Ventures (or related entities) being among the co-founders of Psychiatric Solutions.

épresentatives of Salix Ventures, Oak Investment Partners, and Brown Brothers Harriman currently serve on our

11 Be Ec ©of Directors. We intend to use the net proceeds from the preferred stock primarily to fund acquisitions of-
freestanding psychiatric patient facilities. The preferred stock will be issued in two phases: one-half will be issued
on Apﬁril 1, 2003, and one-half will be issued on July 1, 2003.




.-~ - ‘Merger between PMR Corporation and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.

HUD Refinancing. Psychiatric Solutions is in the process of refinancing a portion of its senior credit facility with
various loans guaranteed by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). These loans are
expected to be in the aggregate amount of approximately $20 million and will be secured by real estate and other
fixed assets of West Oaks Hospital, Cypress Creek Hospital, Riveredge Hospital and Texas NeuroRehab Center.
This refinancing is expected to close in four installments (one per hospital). The first installment, Holly Hill
Hospital, closed November 25, 2002. Management anticipates that this refinancing will result in annual interest
expense savings of approximately $750,000, net of anticipated increases in certain regulatory expenses.

On August 5, 2002, PMR Acquisition Corporation, a newly formed, wholly-owned subsidiary of PMR
Corporation (“PMR”), merged with and into Psychiitric Solutions, Inc., whose name, subsequent to the merger, was
changed to Psychiatric Solutions Hospitals, Inc. (“PSH”). The surviving corporation in the merger was PSH, which
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of PMR, a publicly traded company. In connection with the merger, PMR
changed its name to Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. and, effective August 6, 2002, the shares of Psychiatric Solutions,
Inc., formerly known as PMR Corporation, were approved for listing on the Nasdaq National Market under the
ticker symbol “PSYS.”

Because the former PSH stockholders own a majority of the surviving corporation’s outstanding common stock,
the acquisition was a “reverse acquisition” and PSH was the acquiring company for accounting purposes. The
condensed consolidated financial statements located in this annual report on Form 10-K relate to PSH only prior to

. August 5, 2002, and to the merged company on and subsequent to August 5, 2002. Historical financial information

relating to PMR immediately prior to the merger can be found in PMR’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 31, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on September 16,
2002. For more information relating to the merger, see Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Description of Services by Segment

Psychiatric Solutions operates in two reportable segments: (i) the ownership and operation of freestanding
inpatient psychiatric facilities and (ii) the operation of psychiatric units in facilities owned by third parties. Note 14
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includes additional information regarding each of these segments,
including the disclosure of required financial information.

Freestanding Specialty Hospital Division

The freestanding specialty hospital division is currently comprised of five facilities that offer a complement of

‘behavioral health care treatment and crisis stabilization services for critically ill children, adolescents and adults

with psychiatric, emotional, substance abuse and behavioral disorders. Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities work closely
with mental health professionals, non-psychiatric physicians, emergency rooms and community agencies that
interact with individuals who may need treatment for mental illness or substance abuse.

‘A typical treatment program integrates physicians and other patient-care professionals. For those patients who do
not have a personal psychiatrist or other specialist, Psychiatric Solutions’ hospital will arrange for the patient to be
seen by a member of its medical staff. Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities provide 24-hour skilled nursing observation,
daily interventions and oversight by psychiatrists, and intensive, coordinated treatments by physician-led teams of
mental health care professionals. In addition to traditional inpatient programs, the facilities also offer less costly
treatment alternatives such as residential treatment, intensive adolescent weekend services, and other intensive and

~ non-intensive outpatient programs and support group services.

-~ ‘Psychiatric Solutions has acquired the following facilities since September 2001:

1. West Oaks Hospital, Houston, Texas (Southwest Houston). Psychiatric Solutions acquired West Oaks in
-September 2001. West Qaks is a-142-bed private acute care psychiatric facility licensed by the Texas Department of
Health and accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (“JCAHO™). As a




Medicare, Medicaid and managed care provider, West Oaks offers a comprehensive continuum of inpatient, day
treatment and outpatient services and programs for critically il children, adolescents and adults.

West Oaks operates the following inpatient programs:

; Program Number of Licensed Beds

} Adult Psychiatric Intensive Care 20 beds

1 Adult General Psychiatric Care 58 beds

‘, Substance Abuse Program 16 beds -

’ Adolescent Psychiatric Care . - 32 beds e
Child Psychiatric Care 16 beds

L West Oaks Demographics. According to 2000 census information, Houston is the seventh largest city in the U.S.
; with a population of more than 1.95 million. The population of Houston and surrounding counties is growing more
than 1.6% annually. Between 1990 and 1999 the population of the Houston Metropolitan Service area grew
approximately 20.4% as compared to the national average of 9.7%.

2. Cypress Creek Hospital, Houston, Texas (Northwest Houston). Psychiatric Solutions acquired Cypress Creek
o in September 2001. Cypress Creek is a 94-bed private acute care psychiatric facility licensed by the Texas
i Department of Health and accredited by the JCAHO. As a Medicare, Medicaid and managed care provider, Cypress
‘ Creek provides a comprehensive continuum of inpatient, day treatment and outpatient services and programs for
} critically ill children, adolescents and adults.

' ‘ Cypress Creek operates the following programs:

S Program Number of Licensed Beds
e Adult Psychiatric Intensive Care 14 beds
o Adult Intermediate Psychiatric Care 16 beds
S Adult General Psychiatric Care 32 beds
o Adolescent Psychiatric Care 8 beds
i Child Psychiatric Care 8 beds
Substance Abuse 16 beds

Cypress Creek Demographics. According to 2000 census information, Houston is the seventh largest city in the
United States with a population of more than 1.95 million. The population of Houston and surrounding counties is
growing more than 1.6% annually. Between 1990 and 1999, the population of the Houston Metropohtan Service
area grew approximately 20.4% as compared to the national average 0£9.7%.

3. Texas NeuroRehab Center, Austin, Texas (Travis County). Psychiatric Solutions acquired Texas NeuroRehab
in-November 2001. Texas NeuroRehab is a 127-bed private specialty neuropsychiatric/ neurobehavioral hospital and
_residential treatment center which offers an extensive range of medical rehabilitation, brain injury and
“neurobehavioral treatment programs for children, adolescents and adults. Long term acute care (“LTAC”) beds
"comprise 31 of the 127 beds at Texas NeuroRehab. Texas NeuroRehab is licensed by the Texas Department of
Health and the Texas Department of Protective and Regulatory Services.

SO

‘. ~ Texas NeuroRehab operates the following programs:

Program Number of Licensed Beds
v LTAC Specialty Hospital 31 beds
S Neuropsychiatric/Neurobehavioral Hospital 62 beds
R -Residential Treatment Center ’ 34 beds

" “Texas NeuroRehab Demographics. According to 2000 census information, the Austin metropolitan area is the
* fourth largest area in Texas, with a population of more than 1.1 million. Austin’s population has increased 41.0%
' from 465,600 in?1990 to 657,000 in 2000. According to the census, historical data indicates that Austin’s population
o l}as‘c‘[loublcd every 20 years. C '




4. Holly Hill Hospital, Raleigh, North Carolina (Wake County). Psychiatric Solutions acquired Holly Hill in
December 2001. Holly Hill is a 108-bed private acute care psychiatric and substance abuse facility that provides a
comprehensive continuum of inpatient, day treatment, and intensive outpatient services and programs for children,
adolescents and adults.

Holly Hill operates the following programs:

Program Numiber of Licensed Beds

Adult Psychiatric Care - 28 beds -

Adult Chemical Dependency . R 28 beds e R
Adolescent Psychiatric Care 25 beds

Child Psychiatric Care o 21 beds

RTC K 6 beds

Holly Hill Demographics. According to 2000 census information, the Raleigh metropolitan area is one of the
fastest growing areas in North Carolina with a population of more than 1.13 million. Wake County’s population has
increased 17.0% from 518,466 in 1996 to 606,403 in 2000.

5. Riveredge Hospital, Forest Park, Illinois (Chicago, Cook County). Psychiatric Solutions acquired Riveredge
Hospital on July 1, 2002. Riveredge is a 210 licensed-bed inpatient psychiatric facility that offers a full continuum

of behavioral health care.

Riveredge Hospital currently operates the following programs:

Program Number of Licensed Beds
Adult General and Dual Diagnosis Psychiatric Care 76 beds
Adolescent Psychiatric Intensive Care 25 beds
Adolescent Psychiatric Care 71 beds
Child Psychiatric Care ' 38 beds

Riveredge Demographics. According to 2000 census information, Chicago and the surrounding area is estimated
to have a population of approximately 8 million and Cook County’s population is estimated at approximately 5
million.

Psychiatric Unit Management Division

The psychiatric unit managemeént division develops, organizes and manages geriatric behavioral health care
programs within general acute care hospitals owned and operated by third parties. The division’s experienced team
administers a broad range of psychiatric health services designed to meet specific hospital requirements. As of
‘December 31, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions managed 48 behavioral health units, making Psychiatric Solutions the
‘second largest provider of psychiatric contract management services in the United States. Psychiatric Solutions also
has a contract to provide mental health case management services to approximately 4,300 children and adults with
'serious mental illness in the Nashville, Tennessee area.

The psychiatric unit management division is dedicated to providing quality programs with integrity, innovation
and sufficient flexibility to develop individual programs that meet specific facility requirements. The increased
demand for better quality, lower costs and simplified systems places additional burdens on management teams and
clinical departments within hospitals. As a result, many general acute care hospitals are increasing efficiency by
outsourcing key clinical departments and functions to independent contract managers that can provide focused
expeftise. :

"7 "Psychiatric Solutions offers hospitals a complete menu of management options, including:

- clinical and management infrastructure;

« personnel recruitment, staff orientation and supervision;




in connection with the operation of its programs.

+ corporate consultation; and
» performance improvement plans.

Psychiatric Solutions and the client hospital determine the programs and services to be offered by the hospital.
Each contract is tailored to address the differing needs of the client hospital and its community. Under the contracts,
the hospital is the actual provider of the mental health services and wutilizes its own facilities (including beds for
inpatient programs), support services (such as billing, dietary and housekeeping), and generally its own nursing staff

Generally, Psychiatric Solutions provides the behavioral health unit of the client hospital with:
+ a psychiatric director who provides administrativéj‘lmanagement services and professional direction in all
psychiatric matters relating to patients admitted to the unit, and determines if patients meet the clinical

criteria for admission to the unit;

* aprogram manager, who maintains a direct reporting relationship to the chief executive officer of the client
hospital with respect to the day-to-day operations of the unit. In addition, the program manager generally:

» provides administrative and training services;

> assists with the administrative and clinical criteria for admission to the unit;
> determines whether a patient meets the administrative criteria for admission;
»

advises client hospital with respect to issues relating to compliance with licensing, certification,
accreditation and survey requirements;

> establishes performance improvement standards in conjunction with the client hospital that are consistent
with the hospital’s standards; and

» completes, in conjunction with the hospital, annual performance evaluations of all unit patient care staff.

+ A medical director who provides direction in all non-psychiatric phases of patient care and provides
physician coverage, including medical care for patients who do not have a primary physician relationship.
While each of the management contracts is tailored to the specific needs of the client hospital, in general the
contracts have an initial term of two to five years and are extended for successive one year periods unless terminated

- by either party. While turmover of contracts is expected, the Company expects the number of contracts to remain

relatively stable. Substantially all of the management contracts contain non-compete and confidentiality provisions.
In addition, the management contracts typically prohibit the client hospital from soliciting employees of Psychiatric
Solutions during the term of the contract and for a specified period thereafter.

Business Strategy

Psychiatric Solutions plans to continue to pursue the acquisition of additional facilities, although no assurance
can be given that Psychiatric Solutions will be able to successfully execute this plan. Psychiatric Solutions believes
that there:are a number of attractive freestanding hospital acquisition candidates available for purchase at attractive
va}'g‘ations;. Psychiatric Solutions utilizes the following acquisition criteria: -

O

--<---Number one or two market position within growing, urban areas with low capital expenditure requirements;
+ Minimumlicensed hospital beds of 50 to 75;

« Positive EBITDA (1); and




| +  Opportunity for revenue growth and margin improvement through introducing new programs, intensive -
marketing and recruiting additional inpatient psychiatrists. )
(1) EBITDA is defined as income from continuing operations before interest expense (net of interest income),
income taxes, depreciation, amortization, and extraordinary items. EBITDA, as presented, may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures of other companies.

; , Psychiatric Solutions has developed a pipeline of potential specialty psychiatric hospital écquisitions in various
i "~ stages of evaluation and negotiation. On February 13, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions signed a definitive agreement for
“t-- - =Y % the purchasesof six psychiatric facilities from The Brown Schools, Inc."See “Récent Developments.”

Psychiatric Solutions’ strategy upon acquiring an inpatient facility is to improve operations by focusing on
ol continuing to provide high quality cost effective patient care. The focus on revenue growth is to maintain and grow
that facility’s admissions and revenues through improvements to marketing and community education. A key
opportunity for revenue growth is renegotiating managed care agreements. Further organic growth is possible
through adding capacity in existing programs.

Psychiatric Solutions also increases the focus on reducing costs by challenging staffing ratios and benefits costs.
Psychiatric Solutions also participates in a group purchasing cooperative to reduce supplies expense.

Psychiatric Solutions believes that substantial opportunities exist to provide psychiatric contract management
services to general acute care hospitals in the United States. General acute care hospitals are increasingly
outsourcing key clinical departments to independent management companies because they lack the expertise to (i)
manage and operate specialized clinical programs, (ii) assess the programs for effectiveness and results, (iil) market
and develop programs, and (iv) design and operate programs that satisfy specialized regulatory, licensing,
accreditation and reimbursement requirements.

Management Contracts

At December 31, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions had a total of 48 management contracts with general acute care
hospitals located in 14 states as shown below:

State Number of Contracts
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While Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. expects the volume of confracts to remain relatively stable from year to year,
the actual number of contracts may increase or decrease in the normal course of business as new contracts are
-~ -negotiated and older contracts expire.

Reimbursement

Psychiatric Solutions, as a participant in the health care industry, is affected by the numerous laws and
regulations that govern the operations of its facilities and programs at the federal, state and local levels. These laws




! and regulations include, but are not necessarily limited to, matters such as licensure, accreditation, government
; health care program participation requirements, reimbursement for patient services, quality of patient care and

! Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Changes in these laws and regulations, such as reimbursement policies of
% Medicare and Medicaid programs, budget cuts or other legislative, regulatory or judicial actions could have an
! unforeseen material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company.

|

Medicare

‘ Psychiatric Solutions’ owned facilities derive approximately 23% of theif revenue from Medicare. As psychiatric
... facilities, they are-exempt from-the inpatient services prospective payment systerr (“PPS”) applicable to general
‘ acute care hospitals. Services are cost reimbursed by Medicare, subject to a per discharge ceiling. Medicare pays for
f inpatient psychiatric services on the basis of actual cost, subject to a deductible and coinsurance of 20% of the
provider’s charges. Medicare makes interim payments to the provider based on an estimate of the provider’s cost,
and then makes a final settlement based on an annual cost report filed by the provider.

With respect to revenues derived from psychiatric unit management services, Psychiatric Solutions bills its fees
to the provider as a purchased management, administrative and consultative support service. Substantially all of the
patients admitted to these programs are eligible for Medicare coverage. As a result, the providers rely upon payment
from Medicare for the services. Many of the patients are also eligible for Medicaid payments. To the extent that a
hospital deems revenue for a program Psychiatric Solutions manages to be inadequate, it may seek to terminate its
contract with Psychiatric Solutions or not renew the contract. Similarly, Psychiatric Solutions may not necessarily
solicit new unit management contracts if prospective customers do not believe that such programs will generate
sufficient revenue.

_In the mid-1980s, changes in reimbursement rates and procedures included the creation of the PPS using
predetermined reimbursement rates for diagnosis related groups (“DRGs™). Behavioral health facilities, such as
Psychiatric Solutions’ freestanding facilities, are excluded from the inpatient services PPS, and are instead
reimbursed by the Medicare program based on actual cost, generally subject to a per discharge ceiling. Capital
related costs are not included, but are reimbursed separately at a rate of 85% of allowable costs. In the Balanced
Budget Act of 1997 (“BBA-97”), Congress significantly revised the Medicare payment provisions for PPS-excluded

R hospitals, including psychiatric hospitals. Effective for Medicare cost reporting periods beginning on or after
ERRITIES October 1, 1997, different caps are applied to psychiatric hospitals’ target amounts depending upon whether a

: hospital was excluded from PPS before or after that date, with higher caps for hospitals excluded before that date.

expected to shift to PPS for inpatient psychiatric hospitals in the next several years, possibly as soon as October
¢ 2004. The PPS reimbursement system involves a determination by the federal government of an average, or fair
: i price, for a fixed unit of health care services, adjusted for regional differences in cost.

4
| Consistent with reimbursement trends for other segments of the health care services industry, Medicare is

Mental health services provided by acute care hospitals which qualify for a PPS exemption are deemed to be
| Distinct Part Units (“DPUs”) and are not included in the DRG system. Services provided by DPUs are reimbursed
on an actual cost basis, subject to certain limitations. The mental health programs managed by Psychiatric Solutions
which are -eligible for reimbursement by the Medicare program currently meet the applicable requirements for
designation as DPUs and are exempt from the DRG system. In the future, however, it is possible that Medicare
reimburseinent for mental health services, including those provided by programs managed by Psychiatric Solutions,
ii. could bF under the PPS system or otherwise altered.

: Partial hospitalization is an intensive outpatient program of psychiatric services provided to patients in place of
i‘;‘11%1;)atier1t éare. rIn an August 1, 2000 rule, a new Medica.re per diem payment methodology was established for partial
- 1 hospitalization:programs. In a November 1, 2002 rule, it was announced that Medicare would pay a per diem rate of
7:$256.96, of -which $51:39 is the beneficiary’s co-insurance, for partial hospitalization assuming that the services
ﬁﬁimeet Medicare’s coverage requirement. This amount is adjusted up or down for differences in wages from area to
li:area. Medicare! pays this amount regardless of whether it is more or less than a hospital’s actual costs, although there
!‘s;xs“ a three-yeat ‘transition period during which hospitals whose aggregate costs for-Medicare outpatients exceed the
;:"ii"M@dicare rates will receive some additional Medicare payments, but not up to the level of full costs. The Medicare

!rétes for outpatient services should be updated annually, but in the past when Medicare has adjusted other rates




similar to its new: rates for hospital outpatient services, the updates have often been increases in amounts that were
less than the increase in the “hospital market basket,” i.e., the increase in costs of items and services purchased by
hospitals. In some instances, Medicare has reduced rates in the updating process.

Although Medicare uses a cost-based reimbursement formula for psychiatric hospital inpatient services, and has
established a rate for partial hospitalization services of $256.96 per day, Medicare will not pay these full amounts to

a hospital. It will deduct from that rate an amount for patient “coinsurance,” or the amount that the patient is

expected to pay. Many patients are unable to pay the coinsurance amount. Even if these patients are also covered by
Medicaid, some states” Medicaid programs will not pay the Medicare coinsurance arhount. As a result, the Medicare

‘coinsurance amount will g6 uncollected by the provider except to the extent that the provider is partially reimbursed

that amount as a Medicare “bad debt” as described in the following paragraph.

To the extent that neither a Medicare patient for any secondary payor for that patient pays the Medicare
coinsurance amount after a reasonable collection effort or the patient’s indigence is documented, the provider is
entitled to be paid 70% of this “bad debt” by Medicare. However, there are instances when Medicare denies
reimbursement for all or part of claimed bad debts for coinsurance on Medicare patients on grounds that the provider
did not engage in a reasonable collection effort or that the provider failed to maintain adequate documentation of its
collection effort or of the patient’s indigence.

The services Psychiatric Solutions provides through psychiatric unit management contracts have historically

‘been covered by Medicare, as if provided by the host provider on the basis that the site where the services were

furnished was a “provider based” site. Historically, a site could assert provider based status simply by claiming the
designation. In April 2000, CMS adopted new rules requiring a CMS determination that a facility has provider based
status before a provider can bill Medicare for the services rendered at the facility. The new rules have been
construed by CMS to apply to inpatient mental health units, and therefore they impact Psychiatric Solutions’
psychiatric unit management operations.

As a result of the Benefits Improvement and Protection Act of 2000, facilities treated as provider-based as of
October 1, 2000 were treated as provider-based until October 1, 2002, the effective date of the April 2000 final
regulation. In addition, the April 2000 final regulation specifies instances when there may be retrospective
recoveries of amounts previously paid if Medicare determines that a site was not “provider-based”. The regulation
also places significant restrictions on which personnel can be management employees if the provider based facility
is operated under a management contract.

On August 1, 2002, CMS published changes to the provider-based rules. One of the most significant changes is
that facilities treated as provider-based as of October 1, 2000 have until the first day of the provider’s next cost
report period that is on or after July 1, 2003 to comply with the new provider-based rules. For all other entities, the
changes to the provider-based rules became effective on October 1, 2002. In the final rule, CMS now distinguishes
between on and off-campus provider-based entities by establishing separate requirements that are dependent on the
location of the provider-based entity. The final rule provides relief from the management contract restrictions for on-
campus entities. Under the current regulation, an off-campus entity that is operated pursuant to a management
contract is not in compliance with the provider-based criteria if any of its non-management employees are employed
by the manager, or if its administrative functions are not integrated with those of the main provider. The final rule
eliminated all management contract restrictions for on-campus entities. The final rule provided significantly less
relief for provider-based entities located off the campus of the main provider. The final rule also specifies that in
addition to possible recoupment of amounts previously paid for providers who bill inappropriately for services ofa
provider-based entity, future payments may be adjusted to approximate the amounts that would be paid for the same
services furnished by a freestanding facility.

Péychiatric Solutions believes the sites it presently manages are provider-based within the meaning of the final

- regulation, ‘and Psychiatric Solutions expects that its provider customers will obtain, or have obtained,

determinations of such provider-based status from Medicare. However, it is possible that such sites will not obtain
approyal as provider-based sites or will lose such approval in the future. In such instances, there may be a loss of
Medicare coverage for services furnished at that site and there may be a-retrospective-recovery- by Medicare.-1It is-
also possible that the provider based rules could result in termination or non-renewal of management contracts if a
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provider does not obtain a determination of provider-based status of an inpatient unit operated under a management
contract.

Medicaid

- Psychiatric Solutions cannot predict the extent or scope of changes which may occur in the ways in'which state
‘ Medicaid programs contract for and deliver services to Medicaid recipients. Al Medicaid funding is generally

conditioned upon financial appropriations to state Medicaid agencies by the state legislatures and there are political
‘ pressures on such legislatures in terms of controlling and reducing such appropriations. Consequently, any

. significant reduction in funding for “Médicaid programs could have a material adverse effect on Psychiatric
‘ Solutions’ business, financial condition and results of operations.

Some states may adopt substantial health care reforni measures which could modify the manner in which all
o health services are delivered and reimbursed, especially with respect to Medicaid recipients and other individuals
N funded by public resources. Many states have enacted or are considering enacting measures designed to reduce their

1 Medicaid expenditures and change private health care insurance. Most states have applied for and been granted

| Federal waivers from current Medicaid regulatlons to allow them to serve some or all of their Medicaid participants
| through managed care providers. The reduction in other public resources could have an impact on the delivery of
! services to Medicaid recipients. Any significant changes in Medicaid funding, the structure of a particular state’s
} Medicaid program, the contracting process or reimbursement levels could have a material adverse impact on
! Psychiatric Solutions.

Managed Care and Commercial Insurance Carriers

The Company’s facilities are reimbursed for certain behavioral healthcare services by health maintenance
organizations and commercial insurance companies on either a fee-for-service basis or under contractual
arrangements which may include reimbursement on per-diem, per-diagnosis basis.

These carriers reimburse the facilities or the Company directly for charges at rates and limits specified in their
contracts or policies. Patients generally remain responsible for any amounts not covered under their insurance
policies.

Annual Cost Reports

All facilities participating in the Medicare program, whether paid on a reasonable cost basis or under PPS, are
required to meet certain financial reporting requirements. Federal regulations require submission of annual cost
reports covering medical costs and expenses associated with the services provided by each hospital to Medicare
beneficiaries. Annual cost reports required under the Medicare and Medicaid programs are subject to routine audits,
which may resalt in adjustments to the amounts ultimately determined to be due to Psychiatric Solutions under these
"reimbursement programs. These audits often require several years to reach the final determination of amounts
earned under the programs. Providers have rights to appeal, and it is common to contest issues raised in audits of
prior years™Teports.

" Regulation and Other Factors

Licensure, Certification And Accreditation

Health care facilities are subject to Federal, state and local regulations relating to the adequacy of medical care,
i equlpment, personnel, operating policies and procedures, fire prevention, rate-setting and compliance with building

codes and environmental protection laws. Facilities are subject to periodic inspection by governmental and other
ri—authorities to assure continued compliance with the various standards necessary for licensing and accreditation.
{.‘Management believes that all of the facilities owned and operated by Psychiatric Solutions are properly licenset!
‘urider applicable state laws. All of the facilities owned and operated by Psychiatric Solutions are certified under
" Medicare and Medicaid programs and all are accredited by the JCAHO, the effect of which is to permit the facilities
to’ participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Should any facility lose its accreditation by the Joint
. Commission, or otherwise lose its certification under the Medicare and/or Medicaid program, the facility would be

-
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unable to receive reimbursement from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. If a provider contracting with

Psychiatric Solutions were excluded from any Federal health care programs, no services furnished by that provider
would be covered by any Federal health care program. If Psychiatric Solutions were excluded from Federal health
care programs, its owned facilities would not be eligible for reimbursement by any Federal health care program. In
addition, providers would as a practical matter, cease contracting for Psychiatric Solutions’ psychiatric unit
management services because they could not be reimbursed for any management fee amounts they paid to
Psychiatric Solutions. Management believes that the facilities owned and operated by Psychiatric Solutions are in
substantial compliance with current applicable Federal, state, local and independent review body regulations and
standards. The requirements for licensure, certification and accreditation are subject to change and,”in order to
remain qualified, it may be necessary for Psychiatric Solutions to effect changes in its facilities, “equipment,
personnel and services. Additionally, certain of the personnel working at facilities owned and operated by
Psychiatric Solutions are subject to state laws and regulations governing their particular area of professional
practice. Psychiatric Solutions assists its client hospitals in obtaining required approvals for new programs. Some
approval processes may lengthen the time required for programs to begin operations.

Certificates Of Need (CON)

The construction or expansion of health care facilities, the acquisition of existing facilities, the transfer or change
of ownership and the addition of new beds or services may be subject to review by and prior approval of state
regulatory agencies under a CON program. Such laws generally require the reviewing state agency to determine the
public need for additional or expanded health care facilities and services. Failure to obtain necessary state approval
can result in the inability to expand facilities, add services, complete an acquisition or change ownership. Further,
violation of such laws may result in the imposition of civil sanctions or revocation of a facility’s license.

Federal and State Fraud And Abuse

Participation in any Federal health care program, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, is heavily
regulated by Federal statute and regulation. If a hospital fails to substantially comply with the numerous conditions
of participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs or performs certain prohibited acts, such hospital’s
participation in the Federal health care programs may be terminated, or civil or criminal penalties may be imposed
under certain provisions of the Social Security Act or both. For example, the Social Security Act prohibits providers
and others from soliciting, receiving, offering or paying, directly or indirectly, any remuneration intended to induce
referrals or patients to receive goods or services covered by a Federal health care program (the “Anti-kickback
Statute”). In addition to felony criminal penalties (fines up to $25,000 and imprisonment), the Social Security Act
establishes civil monetary penalties and the sanction of excluding violators from participation in the Federal health

care programs. -

The Anti-kickback Statute has been interpreted broadly by Federal regulators and certain courts to prohibit the
intentional payment of anything of value if even one purpose of the payment is to influence the referral of Medicare
or Medicaid business. Therefore, many commonplace commercial arrangements between hospitals and physicians
could be considered by the government to violate the Anti-kickback Statute.

As authorized by Congress, the Office of the Inspector General at the Department of Health and Human Services
(“OIG”) has published final safe harbor regulations that outline categories of activities that are deemed protected
from prosecution under the Anti-kickback Statute. Currently, there are safe harbors for various activities, including,
but not limited to: investment interest, space rental, equipment rental, practitioner recruitment, personal services and
management contracts, sale of practice, discounts, employees, investments in group practices, and ambulatory
surgery centers. The fact that conduct or a business arrangement does not fall within a safe harbor does not
automatically render the conduct or business arrangement unlawful under the Anti-kickbaek Statute. The conduct

and business arrangements, however, do risk increased scrutiny by government enforcement authorities.

;;Ps_yéhiatric Solutions has a variety of financial relationships with physicians who refer patients to its owned
facilities, s well as at mental health programs and facilities it manages. Psychiatric Solutions has contracts with

manages. Some of the arrangements with physicians do not expressly meet requirements for safe harbor protection.
It cannot be assured that regulatory authorities that enforce the Anti-kickback Statute will not determine that any of
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these arrangements violate the Anti-kickback Statute or other Federal or state law. This determination could subject
Psychiatric Solutions to liabilities under the Social Security Act, including criminal penalties, civil monetary
penalties and exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid of other Federal health care programs.

Stark Law

The Social Security Act also includes a provision commonly known as the “Stark Law.” This law prohibits
physicians from referring Medicare and Medicaid patients to entities with which they or any of their immediate
family members have a financial relationship if these entities provide certain designated health services that are

_ reimbursable by Medicare, including. inpatient and. outpatient hospital services. Sanctions for violating the Stark
Law include denial of payment, refunding amounts received for prohibited services, civil monetary penalties of up
to $15,000 per prohibited service provided, and exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid programs. The statute also
provides for a penalty of up to $100,000 for a circumivention scheme. There are exceptions to the self-referral
prohibition for many customary financial arrangements between physicians and providers, including employment
contracts, leases and recruitment agreements.

On January 4, 2001, CMS issued final regulations, subject to comment, intended to clarify parts of the Stark Law
and some of the exceptions to it. These regulations are considered the first phase of a two-phase process, with the
remaining regulations to be published at an unknown future date. The phase one regulations generally became
effective January 4, 2002. However, CMS has delayed until July 7, 2003 the effective date of a portion of the phase
one regulations related to whether percentage-based compensation is deemed to be “set in advance” for purposes of
exceptions to the Stark Law. Psychiatric Solutions cannot predict the final form these regulations will take or the
effect that the final regulations will have on its operations.

Similar State Laws

Many states in which Psychiatric Solutions operates also have laws that prohibit payments to physicians for
patient referrals similar to the Anti-Kickback Statute and self-referral legislation similar to the Stark Law. The scope
! of these state laws is broad, since they can often apply regardless of the source of payment for care, and little
| precedent exists for their interpretation or enforcement. These statutes typically provide for criminal and civil
‘ penalties as well as loss of facility licensure.

HIPAA and BBA-97

The Health Insurance and Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) broadened the scope of certain
fraud and abuse laws by adding several criminal provisions for health care fraud offenses that apply to all health
benefit programs. HIPAA also created new enforcement mechanisms to combat fraud and abuse, including the
Medicare Integrity Program and an incentive program under which individuals can receive up to $1,000 for
providing information on Medicare fraud and abuse that leads to the recovery of at Jeast $100 of Medicare funds. In
addition, Federal enforcement officials now have the ability to exclude from Medicare and Medicaid any investors,
officers and managing employees associated with business entities that have committed health care fraud, even if the
officer or managing employee had no knowledge of the fraud. HIPAA was followed by BBA-97, which created
additional fraud and abuse provisions, including civil penalties for contracting with an individual or entity that the
provider knows or should know is excluded from a Federal health care program.

;Other Fraud and Abuse Provisions

', *1 _The Social Security Act also imposes criminal and civil penalties for making false claims and statements to

z;Me:dicare and Medicaid. False claims include, but are not limited to, billing for services not rendered or for
i ‘misrepresenting actual services rendered in order to obtain higher reimbursement, billing for unnecessary goods and
iservices, .and cost report fraud. Criminal and civil penalties may be imposed for a number of other prohibited
‘activities, including failure to return known overpayments, certain gainsharing arrangements, and offering
‘eruneration to influence a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary’s selection of a health care provider. Like the Anti-
. :kickback Stafute, these provisions are very broad. Careful and accurate coding of claims for reimbursement,

. including preparing cost reports, must be performed to avoid liability
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The Federal False Claims Act and Similar State Laws

A factor affecting the health care industry today is the use of the Federal False Claims Act and, in particular,
actions brought by individuals on the government’s behalf under the False Claims Act’s “qui tam,” or
whistleblower, provisions. Whistleblower provisions allow private individuals to bring actions on behalf of the
government alleging that the defendant has defrauded the Federal government.

When a defendant is determined by a court of law to be liable under the False Claims Act, the defendant may be
required to pay three times the actual damages sustained by-the government, plus mandatory civil penalties of

_between-$5,500.and $1T;000-for-each separate false claim. There are-many potential bases for liability under the

False Claims Act. Liability often arises when an entity knowingly submits a false claim for reimbursement to the
Federal government. The False Claims Act defines the term “knowingly” broadly. Thus, although simple negligence
will not give rise to liability under the False Claims Akct, submitting a claim with reckless disregard to its truth or
falsity constitutes “knowing” submission under the False Claims Act and, therefore, will qualify for liability.

In some cases, whistleblowers and the Federal government have taken the position that providers who allegedly
have violated other statutes, such as the Anti-kickback Statute and the Stark Law, have thereby submitted false
claims under the False Claims Act. A number of states have adopted their own whistleblower provisions whereby a
private party may file a civil lawsuit on behalf of the state in state court. From time to time, companies in the health
care industry, including Psychiatric Solutions, may be subject to actions under the False Claims Act.

Administrative Simplification and Privacy Requirements

Most of Psychiatric Solutions’ activities require Psychiatric Solutions to receive or use confidential medical
information about individual patients. Federal and some state legislation restrict the use and disclosure of
confidential medical information and the fact of treatment. There are specific requirements permitting disclosure,
but inadequate or incorrect disclosure, even if inadvertent or negligent, can trigger substantial criminal and other
penalties.

The Administrative Simplification Provisions of HIPAA require the use of uniform electronic data transmission
standards for health care claims and payment transactions submitted or received electronically. These provisions are
intended to encourage electronic commerce in the health care industry. On August 17, 2000, HHS published final
regulations establishing electronic data transmission standards that all health care providers must use when
submitting or receiving certain health care transactions electronically. Compliance with these regulations is required
by October 16, 2002. However, the Administrative Simplification Compliance Act extended the compliance date
until October 16, 2003 for entities that file a plan with HHS that demonstrates how they intend to comply with the
regulations by the extended deadline. The Company has filed such plans and received extensions accordingly.

The Administrative Simplification Provisions also require HHS to adopt standards to protect the security and
privacy of health-related information. HHS proposed regulations containing security standards on August 12, 1998.
On February 20, 2003, the final security rule was announced along with modifications to the HIPAA electronic data
transactions and code set standards. The security rule requires health care providers to implement organizational,
physical and technical practices to protect the security of electronically maintained or transmitted health-related
information. In addition, HHS released final regulations containing privacy standards in December 2000. These
privacy regulations became effective in April 2001, but compliance with these regulations is not required until April
2003. The privacy regulations extensively regulate the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health-related
information, whether communicated electronically, on paper or orally. The regulations also provide patients with
significant new rights related to understanding and controlling how their health information is used or disclosed. The
security regulations and the privacy regulations could impose significant costs on Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities in
order ito comply with these standards. The costs of conforming Psychiatric Solutions’ systems to provide the

- --privacy, security and transaction standard conformance required by HIPAA may require substantial cost investment

in software, computers, policies and procedures, employee training and other goods and services. Until the standards
are implemgnted in final form, Psychiatric Solutions cannot know the full extent of these costs for implementing the
requirements the regulations impose. . e
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Violations of the Administrative Simplification Provisions could result in civil penalties of up to $25,000 per
type of violation in each calendar year and criminal penalties of up to $250,000 per violation. In addition, there are
numerous legislative and regulatory initiatives at the Federal and state levels addressing patient privacy concerns.
Facilities will continue to remain subject to any Federal or state privacy-related laws that are more restrictive than
the privacy regulations issued under the Administrative Simplification Provisions. These statutes vary and could
impose additional penalties.

Corporate Practice Of Medicine/Fee Splitting

Some states have-laws that prohibit corporations and other entities from empleying-physicians.and practicing
medicine for a profit or that prohibit certain direct and indirect payments or fee-splitting arrangements between
health care providers that are designed to induce or encourage the referral of patients to, or the recommendation of,
particular providers for medical products and services. Bossible sanctions for violation of these restrictions include
loss of license and civil and criminal penalties. In addition, agreements between a corporation and a physician may
be considered void and unenforceable. These statutes vary from state to state, are often vague and have seldom been
interpreted by the courts or regulatory agencies. Although Psychiatric Solutions exercises care to structure its
arrangements with health care providers to comply with the relevant state law, there can be no assurance that
government officials charged with responsibility for enforcing these laws will not assert that Psychiatric Solutions,
or certain transactions in which it is involved, is in violation of such laws, or that such laws ultimately will be
interpreted by the courts in a manner consistent with the interpretation of Psychiatric Solutions.

Health Care Industry Investigations

Significant media and public attention has focused in recent years on the hospital industry. Because the law in
this area is complex and constantly evolving, ongoing or future governmental investigations or litigation may result
in interpretations that are inconsistent with industry practices, including Psychiatric Solutions’ practices. It is
possible that governmental entities could initiate investigations or litigation in the future at facilities owned or
managed by Psychiatric Solutions and that such matters could result in significant penalties as well as adverse
publicity. It is also possible that Psychiatric Solutions” executives and mangers could be included in governmental
investigations or litigation or named as defendants in private litigation.

Health Care Reform

Health care, as one of the largest industries in the United States, continues to attract much legislative interest and
public attention. In recent years, various legislative proposals have been introduced or proposed in Congress and in
some state legislatures that would affect major changes in the health care-system, either nationally or at the state
level. Proposals that have been considered include cost controls on hospitals, insurance market reforms to increase

' the availability of group health insurance to small businesses, patients’ bill of rights and requirements that all
businesses offer health insurance coverage to their employees. The cost of certain proposals would be funded in
significant part by reductions in payments by government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, to health
care providers such as hospitals. There can be no assurance that future health care legislation or other changes in the
administration or interpretation of governmental health care programs will not have a material adverse affect on the
business, financial condition or results of operations of Psychiatric Solutions.

Insurance

As is typical in the health care industry, Psychiatric Solutions is subject to claims and legal actions by patients in
the ordinary course of business. To cover these claims, Psychiatric Solutions maintains professional malpractice
liability insurance and general liability insurance in amounts it believes to be sufficient for its operations, although it
is possible that some claims may exceed the scope of the coverage in effect. At various times in the past, the cost of
_malpractice insurance and other liability insurance has risen significantly. Therefore, there can be no assurance that
such insurance will continue to be available at reasonable prices which would allow Psychiatric Solutions to
‘maintain adequate levels of coverage.
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! Conversion Legislation

Many states have enacted or are considering enacting laws affecting the conversion or sale of not-for-profit
hospitals. These laws, in general, include provisions relating to attorney general approval, advance notification and
: community involvement. In addition, state attorneys general in states without specific conversion legislation may
exercise authority over these transactions based upon existing law. In many states there has been an increased
l interest in the oversight of not-for-profit conversions. The adoption of conversion legislation and the increased
; review of not-for-profit hospital conversions may limit Psychiatric Solution’s ability to grow through acquisitions of
not-for-profit hospitals. - . ~

Com;ﬂ iance Program

; Psychiatric Solutions is committed to ethical business practices and to operating in accordance with all
i applicable laws and regulations. Psychiatric Solutions” Corporate Compliance Program was established to ensure
i that all employees have a solid framework for business, legal, ethical, and employment practices. Our Compliance
! Program establishes mechanisms to aid in the identification and correction of any actual or perceived violations of
‘ any Company policies or procedures or any other applicable rules and regulations. Employee training is a key
| component of the Corporate Compliance Program. All employees receive training during orientation and annually
thereafter. With the advent of the HIPAA regulations, our goal is to have all employees trained prior to regulatory
| deadlines. Subsequent to the initial HIPAA training of all employees, this component will be merged into the annual
! compliance training. In addition, the Company requires its executive management to sign and adopt a strict Code of
Ethics.

Sources Of Revenue

In its freestanding psychiatric hospital division, Psychiatric Solutions receives payment for services rendered
from private insurers, including managed care plans, the Federal government under the Medicare program, state
governments under their respective Medicaid programs and directly from patients. For the year ended December 31,
2002, approximately 48% of Psychiatric Solutions’ revenues were generated from commercial providers and other
sources, while Federal and state Medicare and Medicaid programs comprised approximately 52%.

The fees received by Psychiatric Solutions for its services under management contracts are paid directly by its
client hospitals. The client hospitals receive reimbursement under either Medicare or Medicaid programs or from
payments from insurers, self-funded benefit plans or third-party payors for the mental health services provided to
patients of the programs managed by Psychiatric Solutions. Subject to certain recently enacted caps in
reimbursement amounts, the Medicare program reimburses general acute care hospitals for the cost of providing
mental health services to eligible patients. These costs include Psychiatric Solutions” management fee, as well as
allocated overhead costs to the facility.

Employees

As of February 28, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions employed approximately 1,680 employees, of whom
approximately 1,140 are full-time employees. Approximately 1,250 employees staff the freestanding psychiatric
facilities, approximately 400 employees staff the management contracts and approximately 30 are in corporate

- management including finance, accounting, development, utilization review, training and education, information
_ systems, member services, and human resources. None of Psychiatric Solutions’ employees is subject to a collective
‘ bargaining agreement and Psychiatric Solutions believes that its employee relations are good.

“Insurance -

-{-Mental health care and information services are always subject to the risk of liability. In recent years,
participants in the mental health care industry have become subject to an increasing number of lawsuits that allege
malpractice or other related legal theories. These lawsuits often involve large claims and significant defense costs.
For the years ended. December 31, 2000, and 2001, and through December, 2002, we have obtained professional and
general liability insurance for claims in excess of $100,000, up to a maximum of $1 million per occurrence and $3
" ‘million aggregate, with an additional $5 million in excess coverage. On December, 2002, the deductible on

-
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- individual malpractice claims was raised to $3 million and the insured limit to $10 million mitigate the increases in

the cost of professional and general liability insurance and to increase coverage for additional exposures due to
acquisitions. The reserve for professional and general liability risks is based on historical claims, demographic
factors, industry trends, severity factors, and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent third party.
This estimate is discounted to its present value using a 5% discount rate. This estimated accrual for professional and
general liabilities could be significantly affected should current and future occurrences differ from historical claim
trends and expectations. Psychiatric Solutions has established a captive insurance company to manage this additional
self insured retention. While claims are monitored closely when estimating professional and general liability
accruals, the complexity of the claims and wide range of potential outcomes often hampers timely adjustments to the
assumptions used in these estimates. Psychiatric Solutions believes that its insurance coverage conforms. to.industry
standards. There are no assurances, however, that Psychiatric Solutions’ insurance will cover all claims (e.g., claims
for punitive damages), or that claims in excess of Psychiatric Solutions’ insurance coverage will not arise. A
successful lawsuit against Psychiatric Solutions that is npt covered by, or is in excess of, our insurance coverage
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Competition

The freestanding psychiatric hospital industry and the psychiatric unit management industry are both highly
competitive and highly fragmented. The industry is subject to continual changes in the method in which services are
provided and the types of companies providing such services. Psychiatric Solutions competes with several national
competitors and many regional and local competitors, some of which have greater resources than Psychiatric
Solutions. In addition, some of its competitors are owned by governmental agencies and supported by tax revenues,
and others are owned by nonprofit corporations and may be supported to a large extent by endowments and
charitable contributions. Such support is not available to Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities.

The largest competitors in the freestanding psychiatric hospital and psychiatric unit management industry are:

« Ardent Health Services, which operates approximately 23 psychiatric facilities and two medical/surgical
hospitals;

» Universal Health Services (NYSE: UHS), which operates 38 psychiatric facilities and 134 acute care
facilities; and ’

+ Horizon Health Corporation (NasdagNM: HORC), which operates 110 psychiatric unit management
contracts, 27 rehabilitation unit contracts and employee assistance programs covering 3.2 million lives.

In addition, Psychiatric Solutions’ freestanding psychiatric facilities and managed psychiatric< units compete for
patients with other providers of mental health care services, including other freestanding psychiatric facilities,
general acute care hospitals, independent psychiatrists and psychologists.

Psychiatric Solutions also competes with hospitals, nursing homes, clinics, physicians’ offices and contract
nursing companies for the services of registered nurses. Registered nurses are in limited supply and there can be no
"assurance that Psychiatric Solutions will be able to attract a sufficient number of registered nurses for its growing

1 _needs.

; A;vailable information

i
R

41 Psychiatric Solutions makes available free of charge through its website, which you can find at

| www.psysolutions.com, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form
{8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities

" ___Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with,

or furnish it to, the SEC.

e
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Item 2. Properties

Psychiatric Solutions’ principal executive offices are located in approximately 7,745 square feet of leased space
in Franklin, Tennessee. The Company does not anticipate that it will experience any difficulty in renewing its lease
upon its expiration in December 2006, or obtaining different space on comparable terms if such lease is not
renewed. In addition, Psychiatric Solutions owns the properties acquired with the five hospital acquisitions
described above. Other facilities and programs-are operated under management contracts. Psychiatric Solutions
believes its executive offices and its hospital property and equipment are generally well maintained, in good
operating condition and adequate for its present needs. See “Business-Description of Services by Segment.” - -

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Psychiatric Solutions is subject to various claims and legal actions which arise in the ordinary course of business.
In the opinion of management, Psychiatric Solutions is not currently a party to any proceeding which would have a
material adverse effect on Psychiatric Solutions’ financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

The Company’s common stock has traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “PSYS” since
August 6, 2002. Prior to August 6, 2002, the Company’s common stock was traded on the Nasdaq National Market
under the symbol “PMRP.” See description of PMR merger transaction in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K and in
Note 1 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

~ The table below sets forth, for the calendar quart&smdn&atcd,?ﬁehxgh aﬁd low salcs‘b;{ces'pér share és repbrtéd ’

on the Nasdag National Market for Psychiatric Solutions’ and, prior to August 6, 2002, for PMR’s common stock.
The stock prices have been adjusted to reflect a 1-for-3 reverse stock split effected on August 5, 2002.

2002

FITSE QUAKLET ...ttt et st et e teet et ese e tsee ot et e eree b e abebnt et sresare s assananbanssnantassasaseresstssens $ 7.68 3 4.89
Second Quarter.............ocoeeeeennen. et reeteereere et et et ettt bsh e reanatas et ataeaenbe st eaashe e se e b b tentetens $ 1143 % 372
TRIEA QUATTEL .......cvvcivetieiieer ettt eb e sae s et ee et b e e st e be e saesenase e e san b se st erenseneass $ 6758 475
FOUTH QUATLEE ...t ceeeiiet et e censree b ce et e seasns sben e sasesaresenesbesensastsenesresanssssessessrnne $ 5094 % 500
2001

FIIST QUATLET ..ecveveiuieiiitear ettt ettt cte ettt ettt et n e aeten e et e st aae b e s mas s easesses esseneeasensreean $ 6.00 % 338
SECONA QUATEET ... ivveieeieeeireeeee e stet et eat et ete st sat et et e eeas e s e s amtasesssabnansessestentsrseutansesea $ 525§ 3.81
THITA QUATTET . ..cve.eietetiteeeeiee ettt sttt ettt et st a it et e e st et esan et e se e stesesmanenssneteseenssan $ 477 8§ 3.63
FOUTtH QUATTET ... otieiici et ettt e e st sresaa s s sear et e s e s e aastesesmeebaas e sestasernean $ 642 § 438

At the close of business on March 25, 2003, there were approximately 146 holders of record of Psychiatric
Solutions’ common stock.

In the third quarter of fiscal year 2000, PMR’s board of directors declared a special dividend of $4.50 per share
of common stock payable to stockholders of record on January 26, 2000. The total amount of the dividend was
approximately $10.6 million. In the third quarter of fiscal year 2001, PMR’s board of directors declared a special
cash dividend of $1.00 per share of common stock payable on December 29, 2000 to stockholders of record on
December 21, 2000. The total amount of the dividend was approximately $7.3 million. On May 6, 2002, PMR’s
board of directors declared a special cash dividend of $5.10 per share of common stock payable on May 24, 2002 to
the stockholders of record as of the close of business on May 17, 2002. The total amount of the dividend was
approximately $12.3 million. The Company currently intends to retain future earnings for use in the expansion and
_operation of its business. Borrowings may limit the ability to pay dividends. The payment of any future cash
-dividends will be determined by the Board of Directors in light of conditions then existing, including Psychiatric
{ Solutions’ earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, restrictions in financing agreements, business
i opportunities and conditions, and other factors. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
'fmd Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data presented below for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, and at
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, are derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company included elsewhere in this Report on Form 10-K. The selected financial data for the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 1998, and at December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, are derived from the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company not included herein. The selected financial data presented below should be read
in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Report.

Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.
Selected Financial Data
As of and for the Years Ended December 31,
B 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
: (in thousands, except per share amounts)

Staternent of Operations Data:

REVENUE ..ottt e § 113,912 § 43,999 § 23,502 $ 4,500 § 1,533
Salaries, wages and employee benefits.............ocooenee.e. 62,326 26,183 15,257 4,350 2,819
Professional fES ... i 14,373 7,039 3,771 990 288
Provision for bad debts.........coooviviiviiiiiiee e, 3,681 662 467 529 68
Other oOperating eXpenses........occerieoniiecniesiseeseenne 21,521 4,283 2,055 619 705
Depreciation and amortization(1) ........c.cc.coviveiiivnennee 1,770 945 757 234 122
INLETESt EXPEISE wovvercviericee ettt emee e e 5.564 2,660 1,723 371 98

109,235 41,772 24,030 = 7,093 4,100
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

IICOMIE TAXES 1ueeveeeeeririireiiieereneetceeree e seetermtsaestanieas 4,677 2,227 (528)  (2,593) (2,567)
Benefit from income taXes. ......ocovevrereeeeneencecrnmsenineenee (1,007) — — — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations................... $§ 5684 § 2227 % (528) § (2.593) § (2.567)
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing

OPETALIONS .evtrertreiaireenerieeereise et st erearenraerenseereneee $ 093 § 04483 (0.1DH$ (0.6 8 (0.75
Shares used in computing basic earnings (loss) per

share from continuing operations ..........cceeevvevvinnnne 6,111 5,010 4,817 4,062 3,416
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing

OpETations ........c....... JO OO ROUUTRTOSORUR $ 086 $ 0423 (011§ (0.64) $ (0.75)
Shares used in computing diluted earnings (loss) per

share from continuing operations .........c..cccovvveinicrnns 6,986 5,309 4,817 4,062 3,416

Balance sheet data:
TOtAl ASSELS .oveveviiieieirie et § 90,138 § 54,294 § 26,356 § 13,154 §$ 10,161
Total Habilities . ..covereeveiirriisirie e eieeseesieerenresresreens - 59,589 45,056 20,120 7,338 3,106
Long-term obligations, including current portion........ 44,944 37,261 17,240 6,428 —

(1) Refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements regarding the non-amortization provisions of goodwill
for transactions completed subsequent to June 30, 2001 and effective for fiscal years ending :after December 15,
2001. ‘
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the selected financial data and the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in this annual report on
Form 10-K.

Overview

As of December 31, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions owned and operated five free-standing psychiatric facilities

..which. provided_psychiatric_services. to.patients in the Houston, Texas;-Austin, Texas;-Raleigh, North-Carolina; and

Chicago, Illinois areas and managed 48 psychiatric units for third party acute care hospitals in 14 states. Psychiatric
Solutions also has a contract to provide mental health case management services to approximately 4,300 children
and adults with serious mental illness in the Nashville, Ténnessee area. Psychiatric Solutions’ objective is to provide
high-quality, cost-effective psychiatric services in the communities it serves. Through its managed and freestanding
psychiatric facilities, Psychiatric Solutions offers a comprehensive array of behavioral health programs to critically
ill children, adolescents and adults. It currently operates in two reportable segments: (i) the ownership and operation
of freestanding inpatient psychiatric facilities and (ii) the operation of psychiatric units in facilities owned by third
parties.

Impact of Acquisitions

Acquiring free-standing psychiatric facilities is a key part of Psychiatric Solutions’ business strategy. Because
Psychiatric Solutions has grown through acquisitions accounted for as purchases, it is difficult to make meaningful
comparisons between its financial statements for the fiscal periods presented. In addition, because Psychiatric
Solutions owns a relatively small number of facilities, an individual acquisition may have a material effect on its
overall operating performance. At the time a hospital is acquired, Psychiatric Solutions implements a number of
measures to lower costs and may make significant investments in the facility. Therefore, the financial performance
of a newly acquired hospital may adversely affect the Company’s overall performance in the short-term.

On August 31, 1999 Psychiatric Solutions purchased all of the outstanding stock of Comerstone Behavioral
Health Services Inc. (“Cornerstone™) for approximately $4.6 million. Cornerstone managed approximately 20
geropsychiatric units in acute care hospitals situated primarily in suburban communities in the South and Midwest.

Effective May 1, 2000, Psychiatric Solutions acquired the equity of Sunrise Behavioral Health, Ltd. (“Sunrise™),
a manager of inpatient psychiatric units in acute care hospitals, for approximately $13 million, net of approximately
$2.1 million_of assumed liabilities. The acquisition was financed through the assumption of certain liabilities,
borrowings under a credit agreement, and the issuance of seller-financed subordinated convertible notes.

On September 1, 2001, Psychiatric Solutions acquired the assets of Cypress Creek Hospital and West Oaks
Hospital in Houston, Texas for approximately $12.1 million, net of approximately $2.1 million of assumed
liabilities. The acquisition was financed through a seller-financed subordinated convertible note as well as other
long-term borrowings.

Effective November 1, 2001, Psychiatric Solutions acquired the assets of Texas NeuroRehab Hospital in Austin,
Texas for approximately $7.6 million, net of approximately $800,000 of assumed liabilities, which was financed
through a seller-financed subordinated convertible note and additional long-term borrowings.

! On December 1, 2001, Psychiatric Solutions acquired the assets of Holly Hill Hospital in Raleigh, North
Ciarolina for approximately $7.6 million, net of approximately $758,000 of assumed liabilities, which was financed

tqrough long-term borrowings under a line of credit.

—L; On July- 1, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions acquired all of the capital stock of Aeries Healthcare Corporation and its

" "wholly owned subsidiary, Aeries Healthcare of Illinois, Inc. for $16.8 million, net of approximately $4.3 million of

-assumed liabilﬂies, prior to certain adjustments. Aeries Healthcare of Illinois owns the assets and operations of
:Riveredge Hospital located near Chicago, Illinois. The acquisition was financed in part through an amendment to
-'Psychiatric Solutions’ senior credit facility.
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On August 5, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions merged with PMR, a publicly traded operator of case management
programs in Tennessee and a manager of two outpatient psychiatric programs with one acute care hospital-in
California. For accounting purposes, the merger was treaied as a purchase of PMR by Psychiatric Selutions. PMR
shareholders were issued approximately 2.4 million shares of Psychiatric Solutions common stock. The Company
acquired approximately $6.0 million in cash in the PMR transaction. Psychiatric Solutions was guaranteed
approximately $5.2 million in cash as a part of the PMR transaction. Any additional monies above $5.2 million as
well as subsequent collections of certain legacy receivables of PMR, if any, received by Psychiatric Solutions are
payable to certain former PMR shareholders as defined in the Contingent Value Rights Agreement (“CVR”). During
the fourth quarter of 2002;-the-Company-paid approximately-$738,000 to CVR holders. Additional-future payments
to CVR holders may be necessary; however, the Company cannot anticipate the amount or timing of such payments
as they are contingent upon the Company collecting certain legacy receivables of PMR.

On February 13, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions signed a definitive agreement for the purchase of six psychiatric
facilities from The Brown Schools, Inc. for $63 million in cash. The six facilities, which have an aggregate of 790
beds, are located in Austin, San Antonio and San Marcos, Texas; Charlottesville, Virginia; Colorado Springs,
Colorado; and Tulsa, Oklahoma. For 2002, the facilities produced combined revenues of $76 million.
Consummation of the transaction, which is subject to customary closing conditions, is expected on April 1, 2003.
Completion of certain health care regulatory matters may delay the purchase of one of the facilities until mid-April.
The Company intends to finance the acquisition through proceeds from the issuance of its Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock and its amended senior credit facility with CapitalSource Finance.

i Sources of Revenue
Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue is generated by Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities as a result of services provided to patients
within the hospital setting. Patient service revenue is reported on an accrual basis in the period in which services are
rendered, at established rates, regardless of whether collection in full is expected. Patient service revenue includes
amounts estimated by management to be reimbursable by Medicare and Medicaid under provisions of cost or
prospective reimbursement formulas in effect. Amounts received are generally less than the established billing rates
of the facilities and the differences are reported as deductions from patient service revenue at the time the service is
rendered. For the year ended December 31, 2002, patient service revenue comprised approximately 72% of total
revenue.

Management Fee-Revenue -

Management fee revenue is eammed by Psychiatric Solutions’ unit management division. The psychiatric unit
management division receives contractually determined management fees and director fees from hospitals and
clinics for providing psychiatric management and development services. For the year ended December 31, 2002,
management fee revenue comprised approximately 28% of total revenue.
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Results of Continuing Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, Psychiatric Solutions operating resultsm(in thousands):

REVENUE ovviiiee et
Salaries, wages, and employee benefits.............
Professional fees ........occcvvvvnrieeinnineeenennns SO

Supplies-....ooioeiieneicenns ESTRURUNON oo

Provision for bad debts........cccoceeviniiiiinnn,
Other operating eXpenses......c.ocuvvevereeeriernrennn
EBITDA (1} et
Depreciation and amortization(2) ..........c.coeouun..
Other non-operating eXpenses .........cc.coeereeeerennen
Interest BXPENMSE ..ovevveecvererrenriciecren i
Income (loss) from continuing operations
before income taxes and extraordinary items ..
Benefit from income taxes......c.covcverercencennnnn,
Income (loss) from continuing operations
before extraordinary items...........coceeeveerrinennes
Extraordinary loss from early retirement of
debt, net of income taxes of $223 for 2001
Income (loss) from continuing operations net
of extraordinary tems ........ccceeerrrerveirecevennene

Years Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Amount % Amount % Amount Y%
113912 100.0% $ 43,999 100.0% $ 23,502 100.0%
62,326 54.7% 26,183 59.6% 15,257 64.9%
14,373 12.6% 7,039 16.0% 3,771 16.0%
5,325 47% - - 1,241 2.8% - 421- - -1.8%——
3,681 3.2% 662 1.5% 467 2.0%
15,934 14.0% 3,042 6.9% 1,634 7.0%
12,273 10.8% 5,832 13.3% 1,952 8.3%
1,770 1.6% 945 2.1% 757 3.2%
262 0.2% — 0.0% — 0.0%
5,564 4.9% 2,660 6.0% 1,723 7.3%
4677  4.1% 2,227 5.1% (528)  -22%
_ (L,007) _-0.9% — 0.0% — 0.0%
5684  5.0% 2227 5.1% (528)  -2.2%
— — (1,237 _-2.8% — —
5,684 5.0% $ 990 23% $§  (528) -2.2%

(1) EBITDA is defined as income from continuing operations before interest expense (net of interest income),
income taxes, depreciation, amortization, and extraordinary items. While you should not consider EBITDA in
isolation or as a substitute for net income, operating cash flows or other cash flow statement data determined in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, management understands that
EBITDA is a commonly used analytical indicator within the health care industry and also serves as a measure of
leverage capacity and debt service ability. EBITDA, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly titled

measures of other companies.

(2) Refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding the non-amortization provisions of
goodwill for transactions completed subsequent to June 30, 2001 and effective for fiscal years -ending after

December 15, 2001.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared To Year Ended December 31, 2001

Revenue. Revenue from continuing operations was $113.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
compared to $44.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, an increase of $69.9 million or 158.9%. Revenue
from owned facilities accounted for $81.9 million of the 2002 results compared to $16.0 million of the 2001 resulits,
an increase of $65.9 million or 411.9%. The increase in revenues from owned facilities relates to full year operations
during 2002 of the four facilities purchased during the last four months of 2001 as well as the purchase of a fifth
facility at the beginning of the third quarter of 2002. Revenue from unit management contracts accounted for $32.0
million of the 2002 results compared to $28.0 million of the 2001 results, an increase of $4.0 million or 14.3%. The
increase in revenues from unit management contracts relates to the addmonal unit management operations acquired

m the merger with PMR Corporation.

--——--Salaries, wage, and employee benefits. Salaries, wages and employee benefits expense was $62.3 million, or

54 7% of 2002 revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $26.2 million, or 59.6% of 2001
revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2001. Salarles wages and employee benefits expense from owned
facilities was '$47.0 million in 2002, or 57. 4% of 2002 revenue from owned facilities, compared to $9.5 million in.
_’2001 or 59.4% of 2001 revenue from owned facilities. This decrease in salaries, wages and employee benefits
expense as a percentage of revenue from owned facilities relates to cost containment efforts within the Company’s
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owned facilities. Salaries, wages and employee benefits expense from unit management contracts was $13.2 million
in 2002, or 41.3% of 2002 revenue from unit management contracts, compared to $15.5 million in 2001, or 55.4% of
2001 revenue from unit management contracts. This decrease in salaries, wages and employee benefits expense as a
percentage of revenue from unit management contracts relates to the Company’s acquisition from PMR of a contract
to provide case management services in the Nashville, Tennessee area. All costs to provide these services are
recorded in other operating expenses because the actual services provided are subcontracted. Salaries, wages and
employee benefits expense for the Company’s corporate office was $2.1 million for 2002 compared to $1.2 million
for 2001 as the result of the addition of staff necessary to manage the acquisitions completed during late 2001 and
2002.

Professional fees. Professional fees were $14.4 mllhon or 12 6% of 2002 revenue, for the year ended December
31, 2002 compared to $7.0 million, or 16.0% of 2001 revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2001. Professional
fees from owned facilities were $10.3 million in 2002, br 12.6% of 2002 revenue from owned facilities, compared to
$2.6 million in 2001, or 16.3% of 2001 revenue from owned facilities. This decrease in professional fees from
owned facilities as a percentage of revenue from owned facilities relates to the acquisition of new facilities that are
less dependent upon professional fees for operations. Professional fees from unit management contracts were $3.5
million in 2002, or 10.9% of 2002 revenue from unit management contracts, compared to $4.1 million in 2001, or
14.6% of 2001 revenue from unit management contracts. This decrease in professional fees from unit management
contracts as a percentage of revenue from unit management contracts relates to cost containment efforts within the
unit management division, as well as classification of the costs to provide case management services in the
Nashville, Tennessee area. Professional fees for the Company’s corporate office were approximately $500,000 in
2002 compared to approximately $300,000 in 2001. The increase in professional fees at the Company’s corporate
office relate to accounting, legal, and other services required as a public company.

Supplies. Supplies expense was $5.3 million, or 4.7% of 2002 revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2002
compared to $1.2 million, or 2.8% of 2001 revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2001. Supplies expense at
owned facilities comprises almost the entire amount of supplies expense for the Company as a whole. Supplies
necessary at owned facilities include medical, pharmaceutical and office supplies. The increase in supplies expense
as a percentage of revenue relates to the acquisitions completed during late 2001 and 2002. Supplies expense for the
unit management division and the corporate office consist of office supplies and are negligible to supplies expense
overall.

Provision for bad debts. The provision for bad debts was $3.7 million, or 3.2% of 2002 revenue, for the year
ended December 31, 2002 compared to $662,000, or 1.5% of 2001 revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2001.
The provision for bad debts at owned facilities was $3.5 million in 2002, or 4.3% of 2002 owned hospital revenue,
compared to approximately $400,000 in 2001, or 2.5% of 2001 owned hospital revenue. This increase in provision
for bad debts at owned facilities as a percentage of owned facilities revenue relates to changes in payer mix and the
impact of acquisitions. The provision for bad debts related to unit management contracts was approximately
$200,000 in 2002, or less than 1% of 2002 revenue from unit management contracts, compared to approximately
$250,000 in 2001, or less than 1% of 2001 revenue from unit management contracts.

Other operating expenses. Other operating expenses were approximately $15.9 million, or 14.0% of 2002

" revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $3.¢ million, or 6.9% of 2001 revenue, for the year
“"iended December 31, 2001. Other operating expenses for owned facilities were $6.6 million in 2002, or 8.1% of 2002
~.owned facilities revenue, compared to $1.0 million in 2001, or 6.3% of 2001 owned facilities revenue. This increase
..in other operating expenses for owned facilities as a percentage of owned facilities revenue relates primarily to
‘increased insurance costs in 2002. Other operating expenses for unit management contracts was $7.9 million in-

2002, or 24.7% of 2002 unit management revenue, compared to $1.6 million in 2001, or 5.7% of 2001 unit
rnanagcment revenue. This increase in other operating expenses for unit management contracts as a percentage of
umt management revenue is attributable to the contract to provide case management services in the Nashville,
Tcnnessee area where actual services provided are subcontracted. Other operating expenses at the Company’s

: iéorporate office increased to $1.3 million in 2002 from approximately $400,000 in 2001 primarily due to increased

!

n%surance cgsts in 2002.

.‘i‘Depreczatzon and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was 1.8 million for the year ended
DFcember 31, 2002 compared to $3945,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001, an increase of approximately
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$800,000 or 87.3%. This increase in depreciation and amortization expense is the result of full );ear operations in
2002 for the facilities purchased in the last four months of 2001 as well as 2002 acquisitions.

Interest expense. Interest expense was $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $2.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2001, an increase of $2.9 million or 107.4%. The increase in interest
expense is due to borrowings under Psychiatric Solutions’ senior credit facility as well as subordinated debt obtained
to fund acquisitions in 2001 and 2002.

. Year Ended December 31 2001 Compared To Year Ended December 31, 2000 .

Revenue Revenue from continuing operations was $44 0 mllhon for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001
compared to $23.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $20.5 million or 87.2%.
Hospital acquisitions during fiscal year 2001 accounted for approximately $16.0 million of the increase in revenues
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001. Additionally, the increase reflects the fact that the operations of
Sunrise were included for all of 2001 as compared to eight months during 2000.

Salaries, wages, and employee benefits. Salaries, wages, and employee benefits expense was $26.2 million for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, compared to $15.3 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000,
an increase of $10.9 million or 71.2%. Of this increase, $9.5 million related to the addition of personnel stemming
from the acquisitions in 2001.

Professional fees. Professional fees were $7.0 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, compared to
$3.8 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $3.2 million or 84.2%. This increase relates
primarily to the acquisition of Sunrise in May 2000.

Provision for doubtful accounts. The provision for doubtful accounts was $662,000 for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001, compared to $467,000 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $195,000 or
41.8%. This increase is attributable to approximately $400,000 of provision for doubtful accounts related to hospital
acquisitions which is offset by improved collections experience related to Psychiatric Solutions’ management
contracts. The provision for doubtful accounts as a percentage of revenue increased from 1.1% for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2000 to 1.5% for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001.

Other operating expenses. Other operating expenses were approximately $4.3 million for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001, compared to $2.1 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $2.2
million or 108.5%. This increase is attributable to acquisitions during fiscal year 2001.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was $945,000 for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to $757,000 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $188,000 or
24.8%. This increase is attributable to acquisitions during fiscal year 2001,

Interest expense. Interest expense was $2.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 compared to
$1.7 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $937,000 or 54.4%. The increase in interest
expense is due to borrowings under Psychiatric Solutions’ line of credit as well as obtaining seller-financed
convertible notes to fund acquisitions in 2001.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions had working capital of $2.4 million, including cash and cash

equlvalents of $2.4 mxlhon compared to a working capital deficit of $3.6 million at December, 31, 2001. Working
capital mcludes amounts due under the terms of Psychiatric Solutions’ revolving credit agreement, which totaled

L —---3$5.4 million at December 31, 2002 and $11.1 million at December 31, 2001. The revolving credit agreement

requuee that all non-governmental cash receipts be applied to reduce the outstanding balance under the revolving
“credit agreement Such amounts can then be re-borrowed to the extent that borrowing capacity remains under the

‘revolving lmfe of credit. The decrease in the working capital deficit is. primarily due to cash acquired of . .

approximately $6.0 million in the PMR transaction.
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Cash provided by operating activities increased from $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to $8.9

- million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in cash flows from operating activities was due to the

acquisition of facilities in the third and fourth quarters of 2001 and third quarter of 2002. Cash provided by investing
activities increased from approximately $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to $4.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2002. This increase was due to cash acquired of approximately $6.0 million in the PMR
transaction offset by cash used in capital purchases of $1.5 million and other assets of $612,000 during the year
ended December 31, 2002. Psychiatric Solutions was guaranteed approximately $5.2 million in cash as a part of the
PMR transaction. Any additional monies above the $5.2 million as well as subsequent collections of certain legacy
receivables of PMR, if any, received by Psychiatric Solutions are payable to certain former PMR shareholders as
defined-in-the-Contingent Value- Rights'Agreement (“CVR”): Diring the ‘fourth quarter of 2002; the Company paid
approximately $738,000 to CVR holders. Additional future payments to CVR holders may be necessary, however
the Company cannot anticipate the amount or timing of such payments as they are contingent upon the Company
collecting certain legacy receivables of PMR. ‘3

Cash used in financing activities increased from $7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to $12.0

million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase was due pnmanly to principal payments on long-term
debt.

In conjunction with the acquisition of Holly Hill Hospital in December 2001, Psychiatric Solutions entered into a
senior credit facility of $33.2 million with CapitalSource Finance (“2001 Senior Credit Facility”). The 2001 Senior
Credit Facility was amended on June 28, 2002 to provide for an additional $7.95 million pursuant to a new non-
revolving term note. The 2001 Senior Credit Facility, as amended, includes two lines of credit for a total credit
facility of $41.15 million, made up of $23.65 million of non-revolving term loans and a $17.5 million revolving
working capital line of credit. Both lines are secured by substantially all of Psychiatric Solutions’ assets and the
stock of its subsidiaries. The term loans accrue interest at the Citibank, N.A. prime rate plus 4.25% to 4.75%. The
revolving line of credit accrues interest at the Citibank, N.A. prime rate plus 2%, subject to a floor of 7.25%, and is
due-in November 2004. At December 31, 2002, the interest rate under the revolving credit facility was 7.25%. Until
the due date, Psychiatric Solutions may borrow, repay and re-borrow an amount not to exceed the lesser of $17.5
million or the borrowing base (as defined in the 2001 Senior Credit Facility, which was $15.6 million at December
31, 2002). On July 1, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions drew $2.9 million on the revolving line of credit in connection
with its purchase of Riveredge Hospital. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had $12.1 million available under
the revolving line of credit. Under the revolving line of credit, all of Psychiatric Solutions’ collections, except for
Medicare and Medicaid payments, are deposited into lockbox accounts controlled by the lender. The funds deposited
in the lockbox are applied to outstanding borrowings with the lender on a daily basis. As a result, the outstanding
borrowings under the revolving line of credit are classified as short term as of December 31, 2001 and December 31,
2002. Psychiatric Solutions must pay an unused fee in the amount of 0.05% per month of the monthly unused
portion of the 2001 Senior Credit Facility. Such fees were approximately $50,000 as of December 31, 2002.

The 2001 Senior Credit Facility contains customary covenants which include: (i} a specified monthly patient
census for any owned, operated or leased facilities, (ii) a limitation on capital expenditures, sales of assets, mergers,
changes of ownership and management, new lines of business and dividends and (iii) maintenance of minimum
interest coverage, net leverage and fixed charge ratios. As of December 31, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions was in
compliance with all applicable debt covenant requirements. Should Psychiatric Solutions’ results of operations or
cash flows decline and result in violation of one or more of these covenants, amounts outstanding under the 2001
Senior Credit Facility could become immediately payable and additional borrowings could be restricted. As of
December 31, 2002, approximately $22.7 million was outstanding.

In October- 2000, Psychiatric Solutions issued subordinated notes totaling $1.0 million to certain of its
stockholders (the “Bridge Loan™). In connection with the Bridge Loan, Psychiatric Solutions issued warrants to
purchase a total of 398,579 shares of its Series B preferred stock. The Bridge Loan was used to fund shori-term

- ~~working capital requirements and accrued interest at 10% per annum, payable monthly. The Bridge Loan was paid
.. in full in April 2002. The warrants were exercised by Bridge Loan holders, notably Oak Management and certain of
its affiliates ,and Acacia Venture and certain of its affiliates, on August 1, 2002, and, in COI)_]UHCUOI] with the PMR

merger converted to-124,700 shares of common stock on August S, 2002~ o -
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In connection with the acquisition of Sunrise in May 2000, Psychiatric Solutions issued subordinated convertible
notes in the amount of $3.6 million. These convertible notes are due May 1, 2005 and accrue interest at 9% per
annum. The principal amount of these convertible notes is convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock
at conversion prices of $8.53 to §9.59 per share. -

In 2001, Psychiatric Solutions also issued promissory notes totaling $4.5 million in connection with its
acquisitions of three facilities. One note in the amount of $2.5 million accrues interest at 9% per annum and matured
on June 30, 2002. Psychiatric Solutions paid off this note in full with a portion of the proceeds of its subordinated
debt offering described below. The remaining $2.0 million note accrues interest at 9% per annum and is due June

-+ -~ 30;-2005.-Among-other-clistomary-covenants, both notes contain cross default:covenants-triggered by a default of-

any other indebtedness of at least $1.0 million. Psychiatric Solutions was in compliance with these covenants as of
December 31, 2002,

On June 28, 2002, Psychiatric Solutions entered into a securities purchase agreement with 1818 Mezzanine Fund
II, L.P. (“1818 Fund”) to issue up to $20 million of senior subordinated notes with detachable nominal warrants. At
the closing on June 28, 2002, a total of $10 million of the senior subordinated notes were issued. Approximately
$7.5 million of the proceeds were used to fund a portion of the acquisition of Riveredge Hospital, and approximately
$2.5 million of the proceeds were used to reduce current indebtedness. The remaining $10 million of senior
subordinated notes may be issued to fund additional acquisitions of free-standing psychiatric facilities and for
general working capital purposes, subject generally to approval by the 1818 Fund. The notes have a term of seven
years and bear interest at 12% annually, payable quarterly. The notes provide for a prepayment penalty of 6%, 3%
and 1% if the notes are prepaid prior to the first anniversary, second anniversary and third anniversary of the closing
date, respectively. The notes grant the holders the right to require prepayment in the event of a change of control of
Psychiatric Solutions, subject to a prepayment penalty of 1% if redeemed on or before the third anniversary of the
closing date. The notes also contain customary covenants which include: (i) a specified monthly patient census for
any owned, operated or leased facilities, (ii) limitations on sales of assets (iil) maintenance of minimum interest
coverage, leverage and fixed charge ratios.

In connection with the issuance of the senior subordinated notes, Psychiatric Solutions issued detachable stock
purchase warrants for the purchase of 372,412 shares of the Company’s stock at an exercise price of $.01 per share.
As of the date of issuance, the Company’s shares were valued at $5.43 per share such that the fair value of the
warrants totaled approximately $2.0 million. Under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 14, Psychiatric
Solutions is required to allocate a portion of the cash proceeds received from the notes to the stock purchase
warrants with the offset recorded as a note discount and then amortized to the face value of the notes over the life of
the notes. Under EITF 00-19, the Company is required to reclassify the amount initially recognized as capital in
excess of par value to a long term liability and changes in fair value recorded to operations. For each $1 increase in
stock price, Psychiatric Solutions will be required to record non cash expense of approximately $372,000. The stock
purchase warrants contain provisions that allow the issuer to “put” their warrants, or stock after exercise, back to
Psychiatric Solutions at fair market value for cash or for the deliverance of shares. The put price under the
agreement would approximate $2 million or require the deliverance 371,841 shares as of December 31, 2002.

On February 4, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions’ stockholders approved the private placement of $25 million of our
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “preferred stock™) with affiliates of Oak Investment Partners and Salix
Ventures and with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.’s The 1818 Mezzanine Fund II, L.P. The investors are current
investors in Psychiatric Solutions, with Oak Investment Partners and Salix Ventures (or related entities) being
among the co-founders of Psychiatric Solutions. Representatives of Oak Investment Partners, Salix Ventures and
Brown. Brothers Harriman currently serve on our Board of Directors. We intend to use the net proceeds from the

E preferred stock primarily to fund acquisitions of freestanding psychiatric patient facilities. The preferred stock will
.

- ‘Be issued in two phases: one-half will be issued on April 1, 2003, and one-half will be issued on luly 1, 2003.

~—---1--On November 25, 2002, the Company entered into a mortgage loan agreement to borrow $4,928,000 from the
. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), secured by real estate located at Holly Hill Hospital
in Raleigh, NC. Interest accrues on the HUD loan at 5.95% and principal and interest are payable in 420 monthly

term loan with CapitalSource Finance, pay certain refinancing costs, and fund required escrow amounts for future
improvements to the property.
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On February 13, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions entered into a definitive agreement for the purchase of six
psychiatric facilities from The Brown Schools, Inc. for $63 million in cash. In connection with the closing of this
acquisition, which is expected to occur on April 1, 2003, the Company plans to amend its 2001 Senior Credit
Facility with CapitalSource Finance to increase its revolving line of credit from $17.5 million to $25.0 million and
to enter into a new non-revolving term note of approximately $36.0 million. Psychiatric Solutions intends to finance
this acquisition through proceeds from the issuance of its preferred stock and its amended 2001 Senior Credit

Facility.

o 1oz Psychiatric Solutiohs-believes-that-its working capital -on-hand, cash flows from operations and-additienal

borrowings under the existing line of credit will be sufficient to fund the Company’s operating needs, planned
capital expenditures and debt service requirements far the next 12 months. Psychiatric Solutions intends to acquire
additional psychiatric facilities and is actively seeking strategic acquisitions that fit its corporate growth strategy.
Management continually assesses its capital needs and will likely seek additional financing, including debt or equity,
to fund potential acquisitions or for other corporate purposes. In negotiating such financing, there can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional capital on terms satisfactory to the Company. Failure to
obtain additional financing on reasonable terms could have a negative effect on the Company’s plans to acquire

additional psychiatric facilities.

Contractual Obligations

Payments Due by Period (in thousands 000)

Long-term debt........cccovvrinniinnreenies
Lease obligations
Informations systems commitments..........ceevueueenn

Total Obligations ........ccoevrererineieneninreieinir e

Less than More than

1 year 1-3 years 4.5 vears S years
$ 43,822 § 7,070 § 21,817 § 52 § 14,883
2,303 862 980 461 —
1,460 724 552 184 —

$ 47585 $ 8,656 $ 23349 § 697 § 14,883

Impact of Inflation

The carrying value of our total long-term debt, including current maturities, of $43.8 million and $36.5 million at
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively, approximated fair value. We had $22.7 million of
variable rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2002. At the December 31, 2002 borrowing level, a hypothetical
10% increase in interest rates would decrease net income and cash flows by approximately $200,000.

Although inflation has-not had a material impact on Psychiatric Solutions’ results of operations, the health care
industry is very labor intensive and salaries and benefits are subject to inflationary pressures as are rising supply
costs which tend to escalate as vendors pass on the rising costs through price increases. Some of Psychiatric
‘Solutions’ freestanding specialty psychiatric facilities are experiencing the effects of the tight labor market,
including a shortage of nurses, which has caused and may continue to cause an increase in its salaries, wages and
benefits expense in excess of the inflation rate. Although Psychiatric Solutions cannot predict its ability to cover
future cost increases, management believes that through adherence to cost containment policies, labor management
and reasonable price increases, the effects of inflation on future operating margins should be manageable.
Psychiatric Solutions® ability to pass on increased costs associated with providing health care to Medicare and
Medicaid patients is limited due to various federal, staté and local laws which have been enacted that, in certain
cases, limit its ability to increase prices. In addition, as a result of increasing regulatory and competitive pressures
and a continuing industry wide shift of patients into managed care plans, Psychiatric Solutions’ ability to maintain
margiis thiough price increases to non-Medicare patients is limited.

The psychiatric health care industry is typically not directly impacted by periods of recession, erosions of
--—consumer confidence or other general economic trends as most health care services are not considered a component

_...of discretionary spending. However, Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities may be indirectly negatively impacted to the
extent such economic conditions result in decreased reimbursements by federal or state governments or managed

__care payers. Psychiatric Solutions is not aware of any economic trends that would prevent it from being able to ..

remain in compliance with all of its debt covenants and to meet all required obligations and commitments in the near

future.
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Critical Accounting Policies _ _

Psychiatric Solutions’ consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. In preparing its financial statements, Psychiatric Solutions is
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses included in the financial statements. Estimates are based on historical experience and other information
currently available, the results of which form the basis of such estimates. While Psychiatric Solutions believes its
estimation processes are reasonable, actual results could differ from those estimates. The following represent the
. estimates considered most critical to Psychiatric Solutions’ operating performance and. involve the-most-subjective--
and compléx assumptions and assessments.

Allowance for doubtful accounts H 5

Psychiatric Solutions’ ability to collect outstanding patient receivables from third party payors and receivables
due under its management contracts is critical to its operating performance and cash flows.

With regard to patient receivables, the allowance for doubtful accounts is approximately 17% of the accounts
receivable balance net of contractual discounts as of December 31, 2002. The primary collection risk for these
receivables lies with uninsured patient accounts or patient accounts for which primary insurance has paid but a
patient portion remains outstanding. Psychiatric Solutions estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts primarily
based upon the age of the accounts since patient discharge date. Psychiatric Solutions continually monitors ifs
accounts receivable balances and utilizes cash collection data to support its estimates of the provision for doubtful
accounts. Significant changes in payor mix or business office operations could have a significant impact on
Psychiatric Solutions’ results of operations and cash flows.

With regard to receivables due under management contracts, the allowance for doubtful accounts is
approximately 24% of the accounts receivable balance at December 31, 2002. The primary collection risk is
attributable to contractual disputes. Psychiatric Solutions estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts for these
receivables based primarily upon the specific identification of potential collection issues. As with its patient
receivables, Psychiatric Solutions continually monitors its accounts receivable balances and utilizes cash collection
data to support its estimates of the provision for doubtful accounts.

Allowances for contractual discounts

The Medicare regulations and various managed care contracts are often complex and may include multiple
reimbursement mechanisms for different types of services provided in Psychiatric Solutions’ facilities and cost
settlement provisions requiring complex calculations and assumptions subject to interpretation. Psychiatric Solutions
estimates the allowance for contractual discounts on a payor-specific basis given its interpretation of the applicable
regulations or contract terms. The services authorized and provided and related reimbursement are often subject to
interpretation that could result in payments that differ from Psychiatric Solutions” estimates. Additionally, updated
regulations and contract renegotiations occur frequently necessitating continual review and assessment of the
estimation process by management.

Professional and General Liability

The Company is subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits due to the nature of the services provided. For
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, and through December 5, 2002, the Company has obtained
professional and general liability insurance for claims in excess of $100,000, up to a maximum of $1 million per
occurrence and $3 million aggregate, with an additional $5 million in excess coverage. On December 6, 2002, the
_.deductible on individual malpractice claims was raised to $3 million and the insured limit to $10 million to mitigate
the increases in the cost of professional and general liability insurance and to increase coverage for additional
" “exposures due fo acquisitions. The reserve for professional and general liability risks is based on historical claims,
demographic*factors, industry trends, severity factors, and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent
third party. This estimate is discounted to its present value using a 5% discount rate. This estimated accrual for
professional and general liabilities could be significantly affected should current and future occurrences differ from
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- ~--—-21- - o—- our limited operating history;

historical claim trends and expectations. The Company has established a captive insurance company to manage this
additional self insured retention. While claims are monitored closely when estimating professional and general
liability accruals, the complexity of the claims and wide range of potential outcomes often hampers timely
adjustments to the assumptions used in these estimates. The reserve for professional and general liability was
$743,000 as of December 31, 2002. The Company has no reserves recorded in previous years because substantially
all of the risk was insured.

Income taxes

compute income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. This process involves estimating the current
tax benefit or expense of future deductible and taxable temporary differences. The future deductible and taxable
temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax agsets and liabilities which are components of the Company’s
balance sheet. Management then assesses the realizability of the deferred tax assets based on reversals of deferred
tax liabilities and, if necessary, estimates of future taxable income. If management determines that some or all of a
deferred tax asset will more likely than not be realized, then a valuation allowance is recorded against the deferred
tax asset. Management must also assess the impact of acquisitions on the realization of deferred tax assets subject to
a valuation allowance to determine if all or a portion of the valuation allowance will be offset by reversing taxable
differences or future taxable income of the acquired entity. To the extent the valuation allowance can be reversed
due to the estimated future taxable income of an acquired entity, then the Company’s valuation allowance is reduced
accordingly as an adjustment to purchase price.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and other materials the Company has filed or may file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made, or to be
made, by senior management of the Company, contain, or will contain, disclosures which are “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not relate solely to historical or current facts and
can be identified by the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,”
“project,” “continue,” “should” and other comparable terms. These forward-looking statements are based on the
current plans and expectations of management and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those
set forth below, that could significantly affect the Company’s current plans and expectations and future financial

condition and results.

"’

The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as-
a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Shareholders and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely
on such forward-looking statements when evaluating the information presented in the Company’s filings and
reports.

While it is not possible to identify all of these factors, we continue to face many risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those forward-looking statements, including:

« potential competition which alters or impedes our acquisition strategy by decreasing our ability to acquire
additional facilities on favorable terms;

+ our ability to improve the operations of acquired facilities;

« our ability to maintain favorable and continuing relationships with physicians who use our facilities;

.7 -+ our,ability to receive timely additional financing on terms acceptable to us to fund our acquisition strategy
o and capital expenditure needs; o S , - e
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» risks inherent to the health care industry, including the impact of unforeseen changes in regulation,
reimbursement rates from federal and state health care programs or managed care companies and exposure to
claims and legal actions by patients and others;

+ our ability to ensure confidential information is not inappropriately disclosed and that we are in compliance
with federal and state health information privacy standards; and

. our ability to comply with federal and state governmental regulation covering healthcare-related products and
services on-line, mcludlng the regulation of medlcal devices and the practlce of mcdlcme and pharmacology

In addition, future trends for prmmg, margms revenues and proﬁtablhty remain dlfﬁcult to predxct in the
industries that we serve. _
b

Risk Factors

If Psychiatric Solutions fails to comply with extensive laws and government regulations, it could suffer penalties
or be required to make significant changes to its operations.

The health care industry is required to comply with extensive and complex laws and regulations at the Federal,
state and local government levels relating to, among other things:

« billing for services;

» relationships with physicians and other referral sources:
+ adequacy of medical care;

+ quality of medical equipment and services;

» qualifications of medical and support personnel;

+ confidentiality, maintenance and security issues associated with health-related information and medical
records;

» licensure;
+ hospital rate or budget review;

+ operating policies and procedures; and

addition of facilities and services.

Among these laws are the Anti-kickback Statute and the Stark Law. These laws impact the relationships that
Psychiatric Solutions may have with physicians and other referral sources. The OIG has enacted safe harbor
regulations that outline practices that are deemed protected from prosecution under the Anti-kickback Statute.
Psychiatric Solutions’ current financial relationships with physicians and other referral sources may not qualify for
safe harbor protection under the Anti-kickback Statute. Failure to meet a safe harbor does not mean that the
arrangement automatically violates the Anti-kickback Statute, but may subject the arrangement to greater scrutiny.
Further, Psychiatric Solutions cannot guarantee that practices that are outside of a safe harbor will not be found to
violate the Anti-kickback Statute. '

PR PO R

In order to comply with the Stark Law, Psychiatric Solutions’ financial relationships with physicians and their

. unmedlate famlly members must meet an exception. Psychiatric Solutions attempts to structure its relationships to
meet an- exceptlon to the Stark Law, but the regulations implementing the exceptions, some of which are still. under -

review, are detailed and complex, and Psychiatric Solutions cannot guarantee that every relationship fully complies
with the Stark Law.
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If Psychiatric Solutions fails to comply with the Anti-kickback Statute, the Stark Law or other applicable laws
and regulations, it could be subjected to liabilities, including criminal penalties, civil penaities (including the loss of
its licenses to operate one or more facilities), and exclusion of one or more facilities from participation in the
Medicare, Medicaid and other Federal and state health care programs. See “Item 1. Business — Regulation and
Other Factors.”

Because many of these laws and regulations are relatively new, Psychiatric Solutions does not always have the
benefit of significant regulatory or judicial interpretation of these laws and regulations. In the future, different
= wizoeot - interpretations-or-enforcement- of -these laws and regulations could-subject-Psychiatric-Solutions’ current: or past-

1 practices to allegations of impropriety or illegality or could require Psychiatric Solutions to make changes in its

, facilities, equipment, personnel, services, capital expenditure programs and operating expenses. A determination that
B Psychiatric Solutions has violated these laws, or the public announcement that it is being investigated for possible
L | violations of these laws, could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of

| operations or prospects and Psychiatric Solutions’ business reputation could suffer significantly. In addition,

! Psychiatric Solutjons is unable to predict whether other legislation or regulations at the Federal of state level will be
adopted, what form such legislation or regulation will take or their impact.

Other companies within the health care industry continue to be the subject of federal and state investigations,
which increases the risk that Psychiatric Solutions may become subject to investigations in the future.

Both federal and state government agencies as well as private payors have heightened and coordinated civil and
criminal enforcement efforts as part of numerous ongoing investigations of health care organizations. These
J investigations relate to a wide variety of topics, including:

 cost reporting and billing practices;
; * quality of care;
* financial relationships with referral sources;
* medical necessity of services provided; and
« treatment of indigent patients.

The Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human-Services and the U.S. Department of
Justice have, from time to time, undertaken national enforcement initiatives that focus on specific billing practices or
other suspected areas of abuse. Moreover, health care providers are subject to civil and criminal false claims laws,
including the federal False Claims Act, which allows private parties to bring whistleblower lawsuits against private
companies doing business with or receiving reimbursement under government programs. Some states have adopted
similar state whistleblower and false claims provisions. Publicity associated with the substantial amounts paid by
other health care providers to settle these lawsuits may encourage current and former employees of Psychiatric
Solutions and other health care providers to bring whistleblower lawsuits. Any investigations of Psychiatric

* Solutions or its executives or managers could result in significant liabilities or penalties as well as adverse publicity.

As a provider of health care services, Psychiatric Solutions is subject to claims and legal actions by patients and
others.

LI

i,  Facilities acquired by Psychiatric Solutions may have unknown or contingent liabilities, including liabilities
: i+ related to patient care and liabilities for failure to comply with health care laws and regulations, which could result
- -1 inlarge claims and significant defense costs. Although Psychiatric Solutions generally seeks indemnification
Coon 1covcring these matters from prior owners of facilities it acquires, material liabilities for past activities of acquired
- facilities may exist and such prior owners may not be able to satisfy their indemnification obligations. Psychiatric
- ‘Solutions is also.susceptible to being named in claims brought related to patient care and other-matters at facilities

. owned by third parties and operated by Psychiatric Solutions.
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To protect Psychiatric Solutions from the cost of these claims, professional malpractice liability insurance and
general liability insurance coverage is maintained in amounts and with deductibles common in the industry. On
December 6, 2002, the deductible on individual malpractice claims was raised to $3 million and the insured limit to
310 million to mitigate the increases in the cost of professional and general liability insurance and to increase
coverage for additional exposures due to acquisitions. The reserve for professional and general liability risks is
based on historical claims, demographic factors, industry trends, severity factors, and other actuarial assumptions
calculated by an independent third party. This estimate is discounted to its present value using a 5% discount rate.
This estimated accrual for professional and general liabilities could be significantly affected should current and
future occurrences differ from historical claim trends and expectations. Psychiatric Solutions has established a

-...captive-insurance company to -manage this additional self insured retention. While claims are monitored closely— — -
when estimating professional and general liability accruals, the complexity of the claims and wide range of potential
outcomes often hampers timely adjustments to the assumptions used in these estimates. This insurance coverage
may not cover all claims or continue to be available at 2 reasonable cost, especially given the significant increase in
insurance premiums generally experienced in the health care industry.

If federal or state health care prograins or managed care companies reduce reimbursement rates or metheds of
reimbursement for services provided, revenues may decline.

A large portion of Psychiatric Solutions’ revenue comes from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. In recent
years, federal and state governments have made significant changes in these programs. These changes have, in
certain instances, decreased the amount of money Psychiatric Sclutions receives for its services. Future federal and
state legislation may further reduce the payments received for services provided or increase the timing of
reimbursement payments to the Company.

Insurance and managed care companies and other third parties from whom Psychiatric Solutions receives
payment are increasingly attempting to control health care costs by requiring that facilities discount their services in
exchange for exclusive or preferred participation in their benefit plans. This trend may continue and may reduce the
payments received by Psychiatric Solutions for its services.

If competition decreases the ability to acquire additional facilities on favorable terms, Psychiatric Solutions may
be unable to execute its acquisition strategy.

Competition among hospitals and other health care providers in the United States has intensified in recent years
due to cost containment pressures, changing technology, changes in government regulation and reimbursement,
changes in practice patterns (such as shifting from inpatient to outpatient treatments), the impact of managed care
organizations and other factors. An important part of Psychiatric Solutions’ business strategy is to acquire facilities
in growing urban markets. Some facilities and health care providers that compete with Psychiatric Solutions have
greater financial resources and a larger, more experienced development staff focused on identifying and completing
acquisitions. In addition, some competitors are owned by governmental agencies or not-for-profit corporations
supported by endowments and charitable contributions, and can finance capital expenditures on a tax-exempt basis.
Any or all of these factors may impede Psychiatric Solutions’ business strategy.

If Psychiatric Solutions fails to improve the operations of acquired facilities, it may be unable to achieve its
growth strategy.

Psychiatric Solutions may be unable to maintain profitability or operating cash flows at any existing hospital or
other acquired facility, effectively integrate the operations of any acquisitions or otherwise achieve the intended

benefit of its growth strategy.

State efforts to regulate the sale of facilities operated by not-for-profit entities could prevent Psychiatric Solutions

 ——ew from acquiring additional facilities and executing its business strategy.

Hospital acquisitions generally require a longer period to complete than acquisitions in many other industries and
are subject to additional regulatory uncertainty. Many states have adopted legislation regarding the sale or other-
disposition of facilities operated by not-for-profit entities. In other states that do not have specific legislation, the
attorneys general have demonstrated an interest in these transactions under their general obligations to protect
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charitable assets from waste. These legislative and administrative efforts focus primarily on the appropriate
valuation of the assets divested and the use of the proceeds of the sale by the non-profit seller. In addition, the
acquisition of facilities in certain states requires advance regulatory approval under “certificate of need” or state
licensure regulatory regimes. These state-level procedures could seriously delay or even prevent Psychiatric
Solutions from acquiring facilities, even after significant transaction costs have been incurred.

Additional financing will be necessary to fund Psychiatric Solutions’ acquisition program and capital
expenditures, and additional financing may not be available when needed.

- .- .--Psychiatric Solutions’ acquisition-program-requires substantial capital resources. Likewise; -the -operation of—

existing facilities requires ongoing capital expenditures for renovation, expansion and the upgrade of equipment and
technology. .
» .

Psychiatric Solutions may not receive additional financing on satisfactory terms. In addition, Psychiatric
Solutions’ level of indebtedness at any time may restrict its ability to borrow additional funds. If Psychiatric
Solutions is not able to obtain financing, then it may not be in a position to consummate acquisitions or undertake
capital expenditures.

Recently acquired businesses and businesses acquired in the future will expose Psychiatric Solutions to increased
operating risks.

Psychiatric Solutions acquired four facilities in 2001, one hospital in 2002, and expects to acquire 6 additional
facilities in 2003.

This expansion exposes the Company to additional business and operating risks and uncertainties, including:

+ our ability to effectively manage the expanded activities;

« our ability to realize our investment in the expanded facilities;

+  our exposure to unknown liabilities; and

« our ability to meet contractual obligations.

If Psychiatric Solutions is unable to manage this expansion efficiently or effectively, or is unable to attract and
retain additional qualified management personne! to run the expanded operations, this could result in a material
adverse effect on the Company.

Psychiatric Solutions depends on its relationships with physicians who use its facilities.

Psychiatric Solutions’ business depends upon the efforts and success of the physicians who provide health care
services at its facilities and the strength of the relationships with these physicians.

The business of Psychiatric Solutions could be adversely affected if a significant number of physicians or a
group of physicians:

+ terminate their relationship with, or reduce their use of, the facilities;
- fail to maintain acceptable quality of care or to otherwise adhere to professional standards;
« suffer damage to their reputation; or

+  exit the market entirely.
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Psychiatric Solutions depends on its key management personnel.

Psychiatric Solutions is highly dependent on its senior management team, which has many years of experience
addressing the broad range of concems and issues relevant to the business of Psychiatric Solutions. Psychiatric
Solutions has entered into employment agreements with Joey A. Jacobs, Chief Executive Officer, and Jack Salberg,
Chief Operating Officer, which include non-competition and non-solicitation provisions. Key man life insurance
policies are not maintained on any member of senior management other than Mr. Jacobs. The loss of key

management or the inability to attract, retain and motivate sufficient numbers of qualified management personnel
could have a material adverse effect on Psychiatric Solutions. Psychiatric Solutions’ Chief Financial Officer position

Psychiatric Solutions has a limited operating history. -

Psychiatric Solutions began operations in 1997 and acquired its first hospital in 2001. Because of its limited
operating history, Psychiatric Solutions has limited insight into trends that may emerge in its industry and that affect
its business. As a result, there can be no assurance that Psychiatric Solutions will achieve satisfactory operating
results.

Psychiatric Solutions’ stock price could be volatile.

The market price of Psychiatric Solutions’ common stock could fluctuate significantly in response to various
factors, including:

+ problems in achieving revenue enhancements and operating efficiencies;

- actual and estimated earnings and cash flows;

- quarter-to-quarter variations in operating results;

 changes in market conditions in the mental health or behavioral health care industries;

- changes in general economic conditions;

- fluctuations in the securities markets in general;

« operating results differing from analysts’ estimates; and

» changes in analysts’ earnings estﬁnates.

+ changes in analysts’ earnings estimates.
Item 7A. Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

~ Information on quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk is included in Part II, Item 7 of this

annual report on Form 10-K under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Contractual Obligations.”

Item 8. Financial Statements And Supplementary Data

Information with respect to this Item is contained in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statement beginning
~ on Page F-1 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

. "Itén 9. Changes In And Disagreements With Accountants On Accounting And Financial Disclosure

None.
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PART 1
Item 10. Directors And Executive Officers -
Directors

The information relating to Directors of the Company set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the
2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Election of Directors” is incorporated herein by reference.

- Executive-Officers of the Registrant e . -

The executive officers of the Company are:
bt

Name Age Positions

Joey A. Jacobs ......coocovvvcriciimiiencncnncn. 49  President and Chief Executive Officer

Steven T. Davidson ..........ccccoceinninnns 45  Chief Development Officer and Secretary

Jack R. Salberg .....ccoovvvveevesieeenniene 54  Chief Operating Officer

Jack Polson.......ccocvveeeee. et 36  Chief Accounting Officer

Brent Tumer.......cccoovveemvevvenciccnirennes 37  Vice President, Treasurer and Investor Relations

Joey A. Jacobs, President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Jacobs co-founded Psychiatric Solutions and has
served as its President and Chief Executive Officer since April 1997. Prior to founding Psychiatric Solutions, Mr.
Jacobs served for 21 years in various capacities with Hospital Corporation of America (“HCA,” also formerly
known as Columbia and Columbia/HCA), most recently as President of the Tennessee Division. Mr. Jacobs’
background at HCA also includes serving as president of HCA’s Central Group, vice president of the Western
Group, assistant vice president of the Central Group and assistant vice president of the Salt Lake City Division.

Steven T. Davidson, Chief Development Officer. Mr. Davidson has served as Chief Development Officer of
Psychiatric Solutions since August 1997 and has over 20 years of health care experience. Prior to joining Psychiatric
Solutions, Mr. Davidson served as the Director of Development at HCA from 1991 until 1997. Mr. Davidson also
served as a Senior Audit Supervisor and Hospital Controller during his term at HCA, which began in 1983, where he
supervised audits of hospitals and other corporate functions. Prior to joining HCA, Mr. Davidson was employed by
Ernst & Young LLP as a Senior Auditor. Mr. Davidson is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Jack Salberg, Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Salberg has served as Chief Operating Officer of Psychiatric
Solutions since May 2000 and has more than 29 years of operational experience in both for-profit and non-profit
health care sectors. Prior to joining Psychiatric Solutions, Mr. Salberg served as president and chief executive officer
of Sunrise Healthcare from 1996 to 2000. In addition, Mr. Salberg served for ten years in various capacities with
American Healthcorp, most recently as senior vice president with specific responsibilities for multi-facility contract
management. Mr. Salberg also spent three years as head of Health Group, Inc.’s psychiatric division. In addition,
Mr. Salberg was employed for four years with Humana Corporation as a hospital executive director and seven years
with Arden Hill Hospital, an independent hospital, as its associate executive director.

Jack E. Polson, Chief Accounting Officer. Mr. Polson has served as the Chief Accounting Officer of Psychiatric
Solutions since August 2002. Prior to being appointed Chief Accounting Officer, Mr. Polson served as Controller
for Psychiatric Solutions since June 1997. From June 1995 until joining Psychiatric Solutions, Mr. Polson served as
controller for Columbia Healthcare Network, a risk-bearing physician health organization. From May 1992 until
June 1995, Mr. Polson served asan internal audit supervisor for HCA.

Brent Turner, Vice President, Treasurer and Investor Relations. Mr. Tumner has served as the Vice President,

" Treasurer and Investor Relations of Psychiatric Solutions since February 2003. From April 2002 until joining

Psychiatric Solutions, Mr. Tumer served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Educational
Services, a#privately-held owner and operator of schools for children with learning disabilities. From November
2001 until March 2002, Mr. Turner served as Senior Vice President of Business Development for The Brown
Schools, a provider of educational and therapeutic services for at-risk youth. From 1996 until January 2001, Mr.
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Turner was with Corrections Corporation of America, a private prison System, serving as Treasurer from 1998 to
2001. -

’ Section 16(a) Compliance

~ The information relating to Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance set forth in the Company’s
Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” 1s incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation e I

The information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the caption “Executive Compensation” is incorporated herein by reference. The Comparative
Performance Graph and the Compensation Committee: Report on Executive Compensation also included in the
Proxy Statement are expressly not incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership Of Certain Beneficial Owners And Management

The information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships And Related Party Transactions

The information set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of
‘ Stockholders under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” is incorporated herein by
, reference.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

B Within the 90 days prior to the date of this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with
the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer concluded that our
i disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information relating to the
Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in our periodic SEC filings. There have
been no significant changes in intemal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls
subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation. ,

PART IV
Item 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports On Form 8-K
(a)(1) and (a)(2) List of Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company required to be included in Part II, Item 8 are indexed on
Page F-1 and submitted as a separate section of this report. All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable

or are not required, or because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or
Notes in this report.
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(a)(3) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

2.1

22

3.1
3.2
33

4.1
4.2%
43

4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9

10.1%

10.2+

Description of Exhibit

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between PMR Corporation, PMR Acquisition Corporation
and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated May 6, 2002, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of -
June 10, 2002 and Amendment No. 2 as of July 9, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Annex A to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed on July 11, 2002
(Reg. No. 333-90372) (the “S-4 Amendment”).

.Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June-20, 2002,-by-and ameng-the- shareholdersmf Aeries —

Healthcare Corporation, a Delaware corporation and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.,, a Delaware
corporation and/or its designated affiliate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the S-4
Amendment). 5

The Company’s Restated Certificate of .I‘ncorporation, filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on
March 9, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 1998) (the “1998 10-K”).

Amendment to the- Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed with the Delaware
Secretary of State on August 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2002).

The Company’s Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 1997 (the “1997 10-
K,l).

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3.

Common Stock Specimen Certificate.

Contingent Value Rights Agreement dated August 2, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 5, 2002).

Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock issued by Psychiatric Selutions, Inc. to the 1818
Mezzanine Fund II L.P. dated June 28, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the S-4
Amendment).

Proposed Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of the Company’s Preliminary
Proxy Statement filed January 6, 2003).

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of January 6, 2003 by and among the Company and the
Purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of the”Company’s Preliminary
Proxy Statement filed January 6, 2003).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of January 6, 2003 by and among the Company and the
Purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to Appendix C of the Company’s Preliminary
Proxy Statement filed January 6, 2003).

Proposed Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock of the Company (incorporated by reference to Appendix D of the Company’s Preliminary
Proxy Statement filed January 6, 2003).

Third Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated as of January 6, 2003, by and among the
Company and certain holders of the Company’s capital stock named therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 6, 2003).

Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Mark P. Clein and PMR Corporation in the
amount of $59,554, dated as of May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to -Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed on June 12, 2002 (Reg. No. 333-90372)) (the
(AS-4”)‘

Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Matk P. Clein and PMR Corporation in the
amount of $278,504.82, dated as of May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the S-
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Exhibit
Number

10.3t
1041

10.5¢
10.6+
10.7%
10.8*t
10.9%
10.10%
10.11%
10.12%
10.13%
10.14*%¢
10.15¢
10.16%
10.17%¢
10.18*%
10.19*¢
10.20%}
10.21*%

10.22*t

Ll 10.23%%

Description of Exhibit
Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Fred D. Furman and PMR Coxporatlon in the
amount of $256,623.60, dated as of May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the S-
4).
Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Fred D. Furman and PMR Corporation in the
amount of $209,317.15, dated as of May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the S-.
4).
Amended and Restated Promissory Note between Susan Erskine and PMR Corporation in the
amount of $20,414; dated as of May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the S=4).”

Consulting Agreement between Mark P. Clein and PMR Corporation dated as of May 10, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 to the S-4).

Consulting Agreement between Fred.D. Furman and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of August
6, 2002.

Consulting Agreement between Allen Tepper and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of August 3,
2002.

Employment Agreemént between Fred D. Furman and PMR Corporation dated as of August 25,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the S-4).

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Fred D. Furman and PMR Corporation dated as of
May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the S-4).

Employment Agreement between Susan D. Erskine and PMR Corporation dated as of August 25,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the S-4).

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Susan Erskine and PMR Corporation dated as of
May 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the S-4).

Employment Agreement between Jack Salberg and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of May 1,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the S-4).

Employment Agreement between Jack Salberg and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of October 1,
2002.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Joey Jacobs and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.
dated as of January 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the S-4).

Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Joey Jacobs and Psychiatric
Solutions, Inc. dated as of August 6, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between Mark P. Clein and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of
August 20, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between Joseph P. Donlan and Psychiatric Solutioné, Inc. dated as of
August 20, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between Christopher Grant, Jr. and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as
of August 20, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between David S. Heer and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of
August 20, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between Joey A. Jacobs and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as of
August 20, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between Charles C. McGettigan and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. dated as
of August 20, 2002.

Indemnification Agreement between Edward K. Wlssmg and Psychiafric Solutions, Inc. dated as of
August 20, 2002.

Consent under Indemnification Agreement between the Company and members of its Board of

,Directors dated as of December , 2002.
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Exhibit
Number

10.25
1026
| 10.27
10.28*
10.29
10.30

10.31
10.32
10.33*f
10.34t
10.35¢
10.361
10.37%
10.38+

10.39%

10.40
10.41

- 10.42

Description of Exhibit -
Indemnification Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2002, by and among the shareholders of Aeries
Healthcare Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and Psychiatric Solutions, Inc., a Delaware

corporation and/or its designated affiliate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the S-4
Amendment).

Securities Purchase Agreement between Psychiatric Solutions and The 1818 Mezzanine Fund II,
L.P. dated as of June 28, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the S-4 Amendment).

Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated as of November 30, 2001, between Psychiatric

Solutions, Inc., certain of its related entities, CapitalSource Finance, LLC, and the lenders thereunder -

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the S-4 Amendment).

First Amendment to Revolving CreditA and Term Loan Agreement dated April 30, 2002 by and
among Psychiatric Solutions and certain of its related entities, Capital Source Finance, LLC and the
lenders thereunder.

Second Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated June 28, 2002 by and
among Psychiatric Solutions and certain of its related entities, Capital Source Finance, LLC and the
lenders thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the S-4 Amendment).

Term Note dated June 28, 2002 in the original principal amount of $7,950,000 payable to Capital
Source Finance, LLC issued by Psychiatric Solutions and certain of its related entities. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the S-4 Amendment).

Subordinated Promissory Note to Brown Schools Inc. dated August 31, 2001 in the original
principal amount of $2 million (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the S-4 Amendment).

Form of Convertible Subordinated Note dated May 5, 2000 to the sellers of Sunrise Behavioral

Health in the original aggregate principal amount of $3.6 million (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to the S-4 Amendment).

The Company’s 2003 Long-Term Equity Compensation Plan.

The Company’s 1997 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 1997
10-K).

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1997 Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the 1997 10-K).

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 1997 Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 to the 1997 10-K).

Qutside Directors’ Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan of 1992 (the “1992 Plan”) (incorporated by.
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the 1997 10-K).

Form of Outside Directors’ Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the 1997 10-K).

The Company’s 1997 Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan for Key Personnel
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8,
filed on October 4, 2002 (Reg. No. 333-100635)).

Management and Affiliation Agreement dated April 13, 1995 between Mental Health Cooperative,
Inc. and Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. with Addendum (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the 1997 10-K) (Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. subsequently changed
its name to Collaborative Care Corporation).

Second Addendum to Management and Affiliation Agreement dated November 1, 1996 between
Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. and Collaborative Care Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-2 (Reg. No. 333-36313)(the “S-
27).

Provider Services Agreement dated April 13, 1995, between Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative,
Inc. and Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the 1997 10-
K) (Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc.- subsequently changed its name to Collaborative-
Care Corporation).
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Exhibit
Number

10.43

10.44

10.46

10.47

21.1*
23.1%
99.1*

10.45

Description of Exhibit

Provider Agreement dated December 4, 1995, between Tennessee Behavioral Health, Inc. and
Tennessee Mental Health Corporations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the 1998
10-K).

Addendum No. 1 to Provider Agreement dated December 4, 1995, between Tennessee Behavioral

_Health, Inc. and Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.20 to the 1998 10-K).

Addendum No. 2 to Provider Agreement dated February 4, 1996, between Tennessee Behavioral
Health, Inc. and Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc.” (incorporated by téference to Exhibit
10.21 to the 1998 10-K).

Provider Participation Agreement dated. December 1, 1995, among Green Spring Health Services,
Inc., AdvoCare, Inc. and Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhlblt 10.22 to the 1998 10-K).

Amendment to Provider Participation Agreement dated February 13, 1996, among Green Spring
Health Services, Inc., AdvoCare of Tennessee, Inc. and Tennessee Mental Health Cooperative, Inc.
(incorporated by refefence to Exhibit 10.23 to the 1998 10-K).

List of Subsidiaries.
Consent of Emst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.
Section 906 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer.

(*) Filed herewith

(1) Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On October 7, 2002 Psychiatric Solutions filed a Report on Form 8-K/A, which amended its Report on Form 8-K
filed on August 6, 2002 relating to the merger of Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. and PMR Corporation.

On November 12, 2002 Psychiatric Solutions filed a Report on Form 8-K, which reported the issuance of a press
release announcing the operating results of Psychiatric Solutions for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Seéurities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.

By: /s/_JOEY A. JACOBS
___ Joey A. Jacobs _

~ Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 27, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated,

Signature : ‘ Title Date
‘ /s/ _JOEY A. JACOBS Chairman of the Board,President March 27, 2003
' Joey A. Jacobs and Chief Executive Officer
‘ (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ _JACK E. POLSON Chief Accounting Officer March 27, 2003
Jack E. Polson (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ MARKP. CLEIN Director March 27, 2003
Mark P. Clein
/s/ _Joseph P. Donlan Director March 27, 2003
Joseph P. Donlan
/s/ _CHRISTOPHER GRANT, JR. Director March 27, 2003
Christopher Grant, Jr.
/s/ _DavVID S. HEER Director March 27, 2003

. David S. Heer

i /s—/ CHARLES C. MCGETTIGAN Director March 27, 2003
e Charles C. McGettigan

/s/ EDWARD WISSING Director March 27, 2003
Edward Wissing
/s/ ANNH. LAMONT Director March 27, 2003

Ann H. Lamont
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joey A. Jacobs, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this a{mual report on Form 10-K of Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
function):

a) All significant-deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and '

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were
significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent
to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses.

" Date: March 27, 2003 /s!_JOEY A. JACOBS

Joey A. Jacobs
Chief Executive Officer
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Jack E. Polson, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days
prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
function):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s

auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were

- significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent
 to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard-to sigHificant deficiencies and

material weaknesses.

. Date: March 27, 2003 /s/_JACK E. POLSON

Jack E. Polson
- Chief Accounting Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders Psychiatric Solutions, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. as of December 31,
2002 and 2001 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. -

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits, to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for
goodwill and intangible assets.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Nashville, Tennessee
March 7, 2003




PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

December 31,

2002 2001
ASSETS .- o e e e -
Current assets:
Cash........... SR O et s e et e et et $..2392 § 1262
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,284 and $3,940,
TESPECLIVELY co.vviiiii ettt e bttt e enan 19,473 17,477
Prepaids and other 2,219 819
: Total CUITENE SSELS ...v.vveevverricrceceirecsricice et ereresenens e e e et 24,084 19,558
‘ Property and equipment:
‘ Land oottt ettt ettt ettt enneer et eneneerenete e st esetanen 6,808 5,260
BUIAINES. .ottt ettt ettt st st n e e e et e s enennaes 25,475 11,670
Equipment ........cccovievrcrinecinnninns h et b e b a e h b e bt e s e s ben et s ean s et aeatesre e eatteteesesanesane nres 3,253 1,631
< Less accumulated depreciation .........coicviveeieeesieteitee it ceicee et sttt ee e s e et e esesseeseraneas (1,989 (581)
: 33,547 17,980
Cost in excess of net aSSets CQUITED ......o.vcveererrrreiriirrtiie et eeese s ess e res e e ses s 28,822 15,208
COMTACES, NEL ... ivieeieeieeeeiiseririecseetasreeteseetseseereetse e s essseresee s et eseseeeneessesseseesesssasesessssssesssesssos 607 914
OhET @SSELS .....veuiveeeiieie et raes ettt a e e saeeaete s et st e e seas s esesteeeeeesteseerestateteatensseeesssssesentatessens 3,078 634
TOMA] BSSELS..eueuiriteeierereree et eren et sttt et e e ete i e et esa ettt eesta ettt b s e e st v e e s en e nee e rasre s enenen $ 90,138 § 54294
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable..........ooiiii et $ 3338 § 1,902
Salaries and benefits payable... ... et e 4,825 2,532
Other accrued HabilIfIes .......ovivieiiiiciereeesies ettt e en s e ee s s e e esaranen 6,482 3,361
Revolving line of Credit ...t 5,383 11,150
Current portion of long~term debii.....c.ocouvriircinrnirciienniie e 1,687 4,237
Total CUTTEnt LaBIlItIES .....c.oce ettt ettt er et e se st seseeenaaneneas 21,715 23,182
Long-term debt, less COITENE POTHOMN. .......cooovuieuirieeieieieeie ettt ettt e ee e 36,752 20,951
. Deferred tax Habilify ... ..o ettt et et e s eeaens 258 383
R Oher HADIILIES ...o.eieveieeieriecieieest et ettt e sttt e s e st e v et eeer e es et ee et eae et aneneeas 864 540
a T0tal LIADIIEIES . .v vttt ettt eb ettt sttt ar et s e eeen e enese e et eeenneeseees 59,589 45,056
Stockholders’ equity: -
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 16,700 shares authorized; no shares issued..........oveue..... —_ —_
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 35,000 shares authorized; 7,739 and 4,990 issued and
outstanding, TESPECLIVELY .....coivieriiieinii ittt sttt s eb et e sn e sae oo ' 77 50
Additional paid-in capital..........cocoiiiii s 35,008 19,149
Notes receivable from stockBOIAErs..........covvivieiivninniccc e e (259) —
AcCUMUIAtE AefICil....ooiieeiriree ettt st es e st e eeesveteee e eanseen (4.277) (9.961)
Total StOCKNOIALTS™ EQUILY .cveuirreirrrirervcieeneeeerrtie et et sttt st ne e e 30,549 9,238
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equItY....cccccoveviinriiieecce e $ 90,138 $ 54.294

See accompanying notes.
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands except for per share amounts)

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
TREVEIUE ..ottt e bbbt et e s eees § 113,912 § 43,999 § 23,502
Salaries, wages and employee Benefits..........c.o.eeeeeemeeveeeeeeeeeeererer e e 162,326 26,183 15,257
Professional fE8S .....ccvviriiiiiicec e ettt . 14373 7,039 3,771
Supplies .....c.....e. 5325 124t . 421
Rentals and leasés................ 870 328 376
Other operating eXpenses. ......c.c.ooevevevreveeereserneneons 15,326 2,714 1,258
Provision forbad debts.......o.ovvvvveveveeverievnen e 3,681 662 467
Depreciation and amortization _ 1,770 945 757
INLETESt EXPENSE ....voeerevrcrerre et et seeneeses et et ent st 5,564 2,660 1,723
109.235 41,772 24,030
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes .............couveee.... 4,677 2,227 (528)
Provision for (benefit from) iNCOME taXes........cvrveeriierenicirneeceeeee v e (1,007) — —
Income (loss) from continuing OPErations ..........eueeeiereveeererrircreeceeeeseesenes 5,684 2,227 (528)
Discontinued operations before extraordinary item:
Income from operations of discontinued lines of business.........c.ocvvrvrreee.e, — 89 350
Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued lines of business, net of income taxes
Of 8223 fOr 2007 coovveiviiiicrniecerircc ettt e — 1,499 (1,738)
Income (loss) from discontinued Operations.........c.couevevvevcriceeevi e reeeeaens — 1,588 (1,388)
Net income (loss) before extraordinary item ........cc.overvcvieeeereeeeee e 5,684 3,815 (1,916)
Loss from early retirement of debt........cccoovevviivnicreiieccee e — (1,237) —
Net INCOME (J0S8) 1. iveirieuiiiririeieies ettt ettt et e ere e sre e e ae et e e e $ 5684 § 2578 $ (1.916)
Basic earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing OPErAtONS .........c.cvcveevriiersreeioreeeerereeseeeesersrenns $ 093 § 044 § (0.11)
Income (loss) from discontinued Operations............oc.eveveeeereveeeieeeoeeeeesecenenenas — 0.32 (0.29)
Loss from early retirement 0f debt .......c.coveviviceereiiiriiieeeieeeeeeeeeeereeeeeaenn — (0.25) —
Net inCOME (J0SS) ...c.cuivireuimiiciieic ettt erasis s rsr s sresssesbe st sesasrenesesr s nescea 3 093 § 051 3 (040)
Diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing OPerations..............coucveeveveeeveeeeeriececrensseenesenens $ 08 & 042 %5 (0.11)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations..........ccooeeveerireeceeeveneceeereeieeerenne — 0.30 (0.29)
Loss from early retirement of debt ...............ccccooveeinnnnii e, — (0.23) —
Net INCOME {10S8) c..vvvevvirericeretisniciscieicie it e s se et s s ssnsn s e s 3 08 $ 049 $ (0.40)
Shares used in computing per share amounts: _
BASIC ...ttt b et st st ener s 6,111 5,010 4,817
DIIIEd ..ottt ettt e 6,986 5,309 4,817




PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
‘ ~ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
e (in thousands)

Notes
Additional Receivable
Common Stock Paid-In from Accumulated
. __Shares Amount Capital Stockholders - Deficit - -Total--
Balance at December 31, 1999 ................. 4,668 $ 47 § 16,393 $§ — % (10,623) § 5,817
Common stock issued..........ooceevvviennenne 417 4 2,330 — — 2,334
Net loss......... ererens s vt L = —. . — o — - —--{1.916)~—(1,916)
Balance at December 31, 2000 ................. 5,085 51 18,723 — (12,539) 6,235
Common stock issued.....c.oovevevvrmreenenen 4 @ — 720 — — 720
Reacquired common StocK.......covvvvrenan 99 5 (@ (294) — — (295)
NEt INCOME......coveirecrrerreeierreeesrrareeens — i — — 2,578 2,578
Balance at December 31, 2001 ................. 4,990 50 19,149 — (9,961) 9,238
Common stock and options issued with
PMR MEFLET ...covveviirrriireniiecreeireenes 2,421 24 15,361 (259) — 15,126
Value of warrants issued............c...iveerne — — 330 — — 330
Exercise of stock options and
WRITANS «.-eeereereevensaereeseeseeeeeaesressenns 328 3 50 — — 53
Issuance of stock options.......c.ccoecevennene — — 118 — — 118
Net iNCOME..c.vevrverreeenrieieerrreerrrrie s — — — — 5,684 5.684
Balance at December 31, 2002 ................. 7.739 $ 77 $ 35,008 $ (259) $ (427D $ 30,549

,.‘...,U v
R TP
RN -

See accompanying notes.
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Operating Activities
Net INCOME {l0SS) c.vvrrmiiiiiiierisicccrirece et e e e § 50684 § 2578 $ (1,916)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)

continuing operating activities: -

‘Depreciation and amortization. .. ... .0 5 i T e e TULT770T T T 9457 TI5TT
Provision for doubtful accounts...........ceceevevennn. 3,681 662 467
Accretion of detachable warrants .........ccccoveeueee. 677 704 166
Non-cash stock compensation expense 118 — —
Amortization of 108N COSS ...ttt et rr e e 419 172 69
Release of deferred tax asset valuation allowance (1,332) —_ —
Extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt.......c.ccoccovevvvincnienniinnnene. — 1,237 —
Additional reserve on stockholder Notes.........ccovveeincrcncnineernccereniieninanns 92 — —
Loss (income) from discontinued operations............cveeeeceievenveveiecncmsanennns — (1,588) 1,388
Long-term interest CCTUE....c.ocvvvvevirurieriireierreesteeetetsessee e seseres e ssese e e nssnene 324 324 216
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:

ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE....eeviiii vttt ettt b st ene e (1,348) 392 (641)
Prepaids and other CUITEnRt 8SSELS .....c.oveervrenrvserererreniasere s sseeseresesesnaes (399) (118) (74)
Accounts Payable... ... s (2,523) (247) 47
Salaries and benefits payable..........ccccoervrirersccerne e 1,504 783 62
Accrued liabilities and other lHabilities ....ccovevveverireeeee e ceeeeeereeecreeesenens 255 947 (718)
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operating activities...........c.c.cooee.... 8,922 6,791 (177)
Investing activities:
Cash acquired (paid) for acquisitions, net of cash paid or acquired .................. 6,243 (305) (9,529)
Capital purchases of leasehold improvements, equipment and software........... (1,470) (116) (106)
Change in net assets of discontinued OPerations...........cecerevereereeniereeieerneennenns — 2,388 939
ONET ASSEES ..ottt et ee e et e ea e st e e sntesesmbeosasssteasstseemtaeoasetenraessnees (612) — (23)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .........cvvevverierrcseccrecrecrenns 4,161 1,967 (8,719)
Financing activities:
Net principal (payments) borrowings on long-term debt.........cocovvceeinnnincnn § (11,772) $  (6,956) $ 6,440
Payment 0f 10a0 COSES .....cvvriieierieiecereiteetie et creres st saes st reeb e enes (234) (880) (289)
Proceeds from issuance of cOmmOR SIOCK .......coviviieeriricrer et ecnee e 53 4 1,917
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities.........ccermvecrenercerenrnesennens {11,953) (7,832) 8,068
Net increase in cash .........ccorrvererverencs ettt ettt a bbb e e 1,130 926~ (828)
Cash at beginning 0f the YEar ...c.ccvceiereiriiecerrerine et sesie s e sress 1,262 336 1,164
Cash at end 0f the Year.......c...cveiverririceiirn st e resnsens $ 23928 1262 § 336
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
IRLEIESE PAIA ..evcveeiiierieeie st et rrra et ase s sore s assnassenssesen s st abesenenn $ 3905 § 1717 § 1401
Effect of Acquisitions:
Assets acquired, net of cash acqUIred........cc.coevceinicrnriiencnesercnennnens $ 34868 $ 30978 §$ 16,134
Liabilities asSUIMEd .....covvererrerecerecreicriiinmsei e st e sraesrsan e ebene (8,862) 3,661)  (2,559)
Notes payable ISSUSA ....c..eivevicirireierreccre ettt sen s e - (4,500)  (4,000)
Common stock and stock options issued..........c.cocccviiiieneninicneinie e (15,385) — (46)
Long-term debt iSSUEA .......cccerriicinirincriir it (16,864)  (22.512) —
Cash (acquired) paid for acquisitions, net of cash paid or acquired............. $_(6243) % 305 3§ 9,529
Significant Non-cash Transactions:
Issuance of detachable stock warrants as consideration for Bridge Loan.......... $ 330 $ 718 § 373
-Issuance of detachable stock warrants as consideration for subordinated debt
FINANCIIE o+ vcvereeivtreencer e etearte sttt s e ten e e aeaes s eae s e e et enensaneeserennnnan § 2018 § — —
" "Financing of early debt termination fee ...........ccoooiviiciirnnnnrcenncreeneene hy — 5 818 ¥ —
+: FInancing 0f 10810 COSES ......vmmruivrericciincic e . ¥ 2004 ¥ — 3 =

See accompanying notes.
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. (the “Company” or “PSI”) was incorporated in 1988 as a Delaware corporation with -

_.its corporate office_in Franklin, Tennessee. The Company.-manages behavioral health units and owns psychiatric - - ~—— ——

facilities.

The Company has formed two operating divisionss (1) Psychiatric Unit Management, and (2) Freestanding
Specialty Hospitals. The Psychiatric Unit Management division provides psychiatric management and development
services to behavioral health units in hospitals and clinics. The Freestanding Specialty Hospitals division includes
owned psychiatric facilities. As of December 31, 2002, the Company managed 48 behavioral health units and owned
five psychiatric facilities in three states.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Cﬂsh v
Cash consists of demand deposits held at financial institutions. The Company places its cash in financial
institutions that are federally insured and limits the amount of credit exposure with any one financial institution.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable vary according to the type of service being provided. Accounts receivable for the
Psychiatric Unit Management division is comprised of contractually determined fees for services rendered. Such
amounts are recorded net of estimated bad debts. Concentration of credit risk is limited by the number of customers.

Accounts receivable for the Freestanding Specialty Hospitals division are comprised of patient service revenue
and are recorded net of contractual adjustments and estimated bad debts. Such amounts are owed by various
governmental agencies, insurance companies and private patients. Medicare comprised approximately 14% and 17%
of net patient receivables at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Medicaid comprised approximately 28%
and 14% of net patient receivables at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Concentration of credit risk from
other payers is limited by the number of patients and payers.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and

liabilities are determined based upon differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of
assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax laws that will be in effect when the differences are

.expected to reverse.

-‘L:ong-Lived Assets
fi

. . Pr;op.erty and Equipment

i} 'Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the useful lives of
the assets, which range from 25 to 35 years for buildings and improvements and 2 to 7 years for equipment. __

{Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful
N T




PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Contmued)
December 31, 2002

lives of the assets. Depreciation expense was $1,408,000 and $279,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively: -

Cost in Excess of Net Assets Acquired (Goodwill)

During July 2001, the. Financial Accounting Standards--Beard-(“EASB”)- issued Statements of Financial -
Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations (“SFAS 141”) and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets (“SFAS 1427). These statements made significant changes to the accounting for business combinations,
goodwﬂl and intangible assets. %

SFAS 141 eliminates the pooling of interests method of accounting for business combinations. In addition, it
further clarifies the criteria for recognition of intangible assets separately from goodwill. SFAS 141 was effective for
transactions completed subsequent to June 30, 2001. The application of SFAS 141 did not have a material effect on
the Company'’s results of operations or financial position.

Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized but are reviewed
at least annually for impairment. The amortization provisions of SFAS 142 apply to goodwill and intangible assets
acquired after June 30, 2001. With respect to goodwill and intangible assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001, the
Company adopted SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. Pursuant to SFAS 142, the Company completed its
transitional and annual impairment test of goodwill in 2002 which resulted in no goodwill impairment

A reconciliation of previously reported net income to the pro forma amounts adjusted for the exclusion of
goodwill amortization follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Reported net income (loss) before extraordinary e .....vveeesiernessirennnenennns $ 5684 § 3,815 § (1,916)
Extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt ... b — (1,237 —
Reported net income (1088 ...ooreiiiieeiiiinreniceiiesicaniser s e seesssenssessnas $ 5684 % 2578 § (1,916)
Add: goodwill AaMOItIZAtION .......cicoiiriireiei et et ee e — 359 276
Proforma adjusted NEt INCOME .......ovvuervicreiricrcereririie e sretesnasresseeeseseecenes $ 5684 § 2937 § (1,640)
Proforma adjusted earnings per common share, basiC.......c..cocccoveeeeniencerenne $ 093 % 059 ¥ (039
Proforma adjusted earnings per common share, diluted. «...cooccoviniriceieieennn $ 08 3 03 § (039

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31,
2002 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2001 .. ..ot r et st se e et b e e e arae e 15,208
Acquisition 0f PMR Corporation ..ot ssneessesiesnene 12,914
AcquISItion Of RIVETEAZE ...c...coviriiiiiiiiiii it bt e 662
L0 11713 O OSSOSO OSSOSO RSP TOSYP TP 38
Balance at December 31, 2002.......ccociiiiiiiiriercerc e e e 28,822
Contracts

Contracts represent the fair value of management contracts and service contracts purchased and are being
* amortized using the straight-line method over five years. The amounts reported at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are
- net of accumulated amortization of $927,000 and $620,000, respectively. Amortization expense related to contracts
. was $307,000 and $306,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Estimated amortization
;" expense for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 of contracts is $300,000.

: When events, circumstances and operating results indicate that the carrying values of certain long-lived assets
- and the related identifiable intangible assets might be impaired, the Company prepares projections of the
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
December 31, 2002

undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If the

projections indicate that the recorded amounts are not expected to be recoverable, such amounts are reduced-to-— - -

estimated fair value. Fair value is estimated based upon projections of discounted cash flows.

Other Assets .

Other assets consist principally of loan costs whlch are deferred and amortxzed over the term of the related debt.
The amounts reported at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are net of accumulated amortization of $484,000 and
$85,000, respectively. -

Stock-Based Compensation

In January 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and
Disclosure, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair-value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of
SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. SFAS 148
has no material impact on the Company, as it does not plan to adopt the fair-value method of accounting for stock
options at the current time. The Company has included the required disclosures below and in Note 10,

The Company accounts for its stock option plans in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles
Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations as more
fully described in Note 10. As such, compensation expense would be recorded on the date of grant only if the
current market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price.

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123, and has been
determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method of that
Statement. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company granted 515,000, 35,000 and 85,000 stock options,
respectively. The fair value of these options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model for 2002.
For 2001 and 2000, the Company used the minimum value option pricing model as its stock was not publicly traded.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used in the respective pricing models:

2002 2001 2000
RiISK-fIEE HEIESt TALC. ..eeeeeieeeeceeeeeeeee e e e et s e eeees s e e enaes s sareenn seneans 311% 3.69% 6.27%
VOIAUIIEY vttt e er ettt et see b ne s 111.70% N/A N/A
EXPECtEd HIE . ouenineteieieeie ettt e 4 10 10
Dividend yield . ....cooviimiiiiiciccicvvii et 0.00% 0.00% (0.00)%

The weighted-average fair value of options granted are presented in the following table:

2002 2001 2000

Exercise Price equal to Market Price............cocovviiimcciiincncsonsrctnneen, $ 413 8% 0053 008
Exercise Price less than Market Price .....c..cocoevvvnvcnniicciercressien s 53748 —8% —
Exercise Price greater than Market Price .......c.ccovcvienenncene ettt et e 32678 —§% —

Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. Because the Company’s employee
stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the
subjectlve input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing
models do nof necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
December 31, 2002

For purposes of pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the
option’s vesting period. The Company’s pro forma information follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2002 2001 2000

Net INCOME (LOSS) «.oreeuieiceieireriiiric sttt 3 5,684 8% 2,578 § (1,916)
Pro forma compensation expense from stock Options.....c....coceecvenrivereennne - 92 12 19
Pro forma net income {(10sS) «.cevvvrerennnce. et vt e e et et e ate et e tetesaneees § 5,592 % 2566 % (1,935)
Basic pro forma earnings (loss) per share ......... § 0392 5L ¥ (04D

Diluted pro forma eamings (loss) per share

Use of Estimates

Management of the Company has made certain estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Risk Management

The Company carries general and professional liability insurance from an unrelated commercial insurance
carrier. Prior to December 6, 2002, the Company maintained a claims-made policy under which it was insured for
per occurrence losses up to $6,000,000 with policy limits of $8,000,000 in the aggregate. On December 6th, 2002,
the Company increased its self-insured retention from $100,000 per claim to $3 million per claim and increased its
policy limit to $10 million per occurrence and in the aggregate to mitigate the increases in the cost of professional
and general liability insurance and to increase coverage for additional exposures due to acquisitions. The reserve for
professional and general liability risks is based on historical claims, demographic factors, industry trends, severity
factors, and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent third party. This estimate is discounted to its
present value using a 5% discount rate. This estimated accrual for professional and general liabilities could be
significantly affected should current and future occurrences differ from historical claim trends and expectations. The
Company has established a captive insurance company to manage this additional self-insured retention. While
claims are monitored closely when estimating professional and general liability accruals, the complexity of the
claims and wide range of potential outcomes often hampers timely adjustments to the assumptions used in these
estimates. The reserve for professional and general liability was $743,000 as of December 31, 2002. The Company
had no reserves recorded in previous years because substantially all of the risk was insured.

The Company also carries warkers’ compensation insurance from an unrelated commercial insurance carrier.
The Company’s experience with workers’ compensation claims has been insignificant. The Company believes that
adequate provision has been made for workers compensation and professional and general liability risks.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash, accounts receivable,
and accounts payable approximate their fair value given the short-term maturity of these instruments. Based upon
the borrowing rates currently available to the Company, the camrying amounts reported in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets for long-term debt approximate fair value,

Merger with PMR Corporation
On August 5, 2002, pursuant to a definitive Merger Agreement dated May 6, 2002 and with respective
stockholder and regulatory approvals, PMR Acquisition Corporation, a newly formed, wholly-owned subsidiary of

PMR Corporation, merged with and into Psychiatric Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation whose name,
subsequent to the merger, was changed to Psychiatric Solutions Hospitals, Inc. (“PSH”). Concurrently, the name of
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PMR Corporation was changed to Psychiatric Solutions, Inc. (“PSI” or the “Company”). The surviving corporation
in the merger was PSH, which has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. In exchange for their
outstanding shares of common stock or preferred stock in PSH, stockholders of PSH received newly-issued shares of
Company common stock. Options to acquire PSH common stock were converted into options to purchase shares of
Company common stock based on the common stock exchange ratio used in the merger. Warrants of PSH will

_ enable .the holders to exercise these securities-into shares of Company common stock. After giving effect to the

exercise of all outstanding options and warrants of PSH following the merger, the former PSH stockholders and the
Company’s pre-merger stockholders received approximately 72% and 28% of the common stock of the Company,
respectively. The headquarters of the combined company has been relocated to Franklin, Tennessee. In addition,
effective August 6, 2002, the shares of the Company were approved for listing on the Nasdaq National Market under
the ticker symbol “PSYS.” The Merger Agreement is on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on June 12, 2002, as
amended July 11, 2002, -

In as much as the former PSH stockholders own more than half of the surviving corporation’s outstanding
common stock pursuant to the merger, PSH has been treated as the acquiring company for accounting purposes. The
condensed consolidated financial statements located herein relate to PSH only prior to August 5, 2002, and to the
merged company on and subsequent to August S, 2002. Historical financial information relating to PMR
Corporation just prior to the merger can be found in the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended July 31, 2002, as filed with the SEC on September 16, 2002.

‘Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year to conform with current year presentation.
Specifically, PSH’s Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Common Stock were converted to post
merger Common Stock on August 5, 2002 at rates pursuant to the merger agreement with PMR Corporation of
0.246951, 0.312864 and 0.115125, respectively. All periods prior to August 5, 2002 have been retroactively restated
to reflect conversion at the applicable conversion rates. The following table sets forth the effect of retroactive
conversion as of December 31, 2001 (in thousands):

Effect of Conversion at December 31, 2001

Additional
- Common Stock Paid in Capital Series A Preferred Series B Preferred
Shares Shares Shares
Balance 0/8 Balance Balance 0/S Balance /S
Balances prior to
CONVETSIOM vl eavrrereseecererecnne 73 7,296 74 10,497 10,497 8,555 4,976

Conversion of Common

Stock to past merger

Common Stock ... (65) (6,456) 65
Conversion of Series A

Preferred to post merger

COMMON .cooviviinaveiiiniinans 26 2,593 10,471 (10,497 (10,497)
Conversion of Series B

Preferred to post merger

COMMON ..o iearecnnrieee 6 1,557 8,539 (8,555) (4.976)
Balances post conversion ..... __i__O 4,990 19,149 — — _ _

Recent Pronouncements

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 1447), which supersedes SFAS 121, Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of, and the accounting and reporting
provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary,
Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. SFAS 144 removes goodwill from its scope and
clarifies other implementation issues related to SFAS 121. SFAS 144 also provides a single framework for
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evaluating long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The Company does not expect SFAS 144 to have a material
effect on its results of operations or financial position.

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections (“SFAS-145”).
SFAS 145 prohibits the classification of gains or losses from debt extinguishments as extraordinary items urless thie™
criteria outlined in APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations -—— Reporting the Effects of Disposal
of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, are
met. SFAS 145 also eliminates an inconsistency betwden the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and
the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback
transactions. SFAS 145 is effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, with early adoption encouraged.
The Company intends to adopt the provisions of SFAS 145 effective January 1, 2003 and will be required to
reclassify amounts previously reported as an extraordinary item to a component of income from continuing
operations.

2. Revenue

Revenue consists of the following amounts (in thousands):

December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Patient SEIVICE TEVEIIUE .....oocvivierieeeeerieeereeeiieeteeesserteessasaensssesssstesreesssnssnnes $ 81929 % 16,026 $ —
Management fE€ TEVEIMUE .......coverieriiceririeec et sieeecresiearene e e sne e 31,983 27,973 23,502
TOLAL TEVEIUE 1. eveeee ettt ee s eeer e aessesereee s aa s eamaaeeesanteassse s e sansanerrsenans $ 113912 $ 43999 § 23.502

v Net Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue is reported on the accrual basis in the period in which services are provided, at
established rates, regardless of whether collection in full is expected. Net patient service revenue includes amounts
estimated by management to be reimbursable by Medicare and Medicaid under provisions of cost or prospective
reimbursement formulas in effect. Amounts received are generally less than the established billing rates of the
facilities and the differences (contractual allowances) are reported as deductions from patient service revenue at the
time the service is rendered. The effect of other arrangements for providing services at less than established rates is
also reported as deductions from patient service revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately
26% and 26% of the Company’s revenues related to patients participating in the Medicare and Medicaid programs,
respectively. ‘

The Company provides care without charge to patients who are financially unable to pay for the health care
services they receive. Because the Company does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity
care, they are not reported in revenues. Settlements under cost reimbursement agreements with third party payers are
estimated and recerded in the period in which the related services are rendered and are adjusted in future periods as
final settlements are determined. Final determination of amounts earned under the Medicare and Medicaid programs
often occur in subsequent years because of audits by the programs, rights of appeal and the application of numerous
technical provisions.

The Company’s revenue is particularly sensitive to regulatory and economic changes in the state of Texas. As of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company operated three facilities in Texas. The Company generated 50% and
34% of its revenue from its Texas operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Ed
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Management Fee Revenue

Revenue is recorded as management fee revenue for the Psychiatric Unit Management division. The Psychiatric
Unit Management division receives contractually determined management fees and director fees from hospitals and
clinics for providing psychiatric management and development services.

I e —

There were no individual or group of afﬁllated contracts in 2002 and 2001, which provided a significant
concentration of management fee revenue. -

3. Earning Per Share

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128, Earnings per Share, requires dual presentation
of basic and diluted earnings per share by entities with complex capital structures. Basic earnings per share includes
no dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution of securities that could share in the earnings
of the entity. The Company has calculated its earnings per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128 for all periods
presented.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

Year ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Numerator:
Net income available to common stockholders..........ccooevineecinnconne $ 5684 § 2,578 $§ (1,916)
Interest expense on convertible debt outstanding..........cccoceniercicniins, 324 p— —
Net income used in computing diluted eanings per common share........... 3 6,008 § 2578 § (1.916)
Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic eamnings per share............ 6,111 5,010 4,817
Effects of dilutive stock options and warrants outstanding........c..cveeeverns 453 299 —_
; Effect of dilutive convertible debt outstanding .......................................... 422 — —_
! Shares used in computing diluted earnings per common share................... 6,986 5,309 4,817
Earnings per common share, basic ..o i § 093 ¥ 03T § _{(0.40)
Earnings per common share, diluted ..o T 08 § 049 ¥ (0.40)

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2001, does not include debt outstanding which was
convertible into 483,000 shares, as its effect would be antidilutive. Diluted earnings per share for the year ended
December 31, 2000, do not include the effect of stock options, warrants or convertible debt outstanding, as the
effects would be antidilutive.

4. Discontinued Operations

Included in discontinued operations are the operating results and estimated losses on the unwind of service
agreements entered into with physicians, as well as the operating results and gain on disposal for the Employee

Assistance Program. As part of the Company’s Physician Practice Management Division, the Company had

.acquired certfain net assets of psychiatric clinics, and had operated the clinics and managed the-physician practices
;under long-term service agreements with the physicians that practiced exclusively through the clinics. The Company

- ey s g T IR
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- had not consohdated these clmlcs or the physician practlces it managed as it did not have operating control
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‘ ;owm:dl by the, Company. Such clinics provided group and individual therapy sessions to patients through partial
P ghospltahzatxon and intensive outpatient programs. The Company-owned-clinics were all closed as of December 31,
:2000. The Company’s Employee Assistance Programs division contracted with employers to provide confidential
‘assxstancc and counseling to their employees.
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The Company’s implementation of plans during 2000 to exit these lines of business resulted in an estimated loss
on disposal of discontinued operations of $1,738,000 during the year ended December 31, 2000. The December 31,
2000 loss on disposal consists primarily of lease termination costs and the write down of fixed assets and other
assets directly resulting from the decision to exit the Physxclan Practice Management line of business. The
December 31, 2000 loss on disposal also includes an estimate of losses from operations associated with the
physician practice service agreements of approx1mately $359,000 through the disposal date. Such costs are recorded
within net assets of discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The December 31,
2001 income (loss) on disposal consists primarily of a gain on the sale of the Employee Assistance Programs
division of $1,170,000 (net of taxes of $223,000), the operations of the Employee Assistance Programs division
from the measurement date through the disposal date of $246,000 and final adjustments to the Company’s 2000 loss
on disposal of $84,000.

Management fee revenue earned under the service agreements and net patient service revenue eamed from the
Company-owned clinics totaled $9,876,000 and $12,814,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Management fee revenue eamed under the service agreements includes reimbursement of clinic
expenses incurred on behalf of the clinic facilities. These reimbursed clinic expenses do not include the salaries and
benefits of physicians and therapists who provide medical service.

5. Acquisitions

2000 Acquisitions

During 2000, the Company acquired various entities, which provided psychiatric management and development
services and employee assistance and counseling services. Certain assets of these entities were acquired in exchange
for Common Stock, cash, notes payable or a combination thereof. The Company issued 130,000 shares of Common

Stock in connection with these acquisitions during 2000.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price of the aforementioned
acquisitions (in thousands):

2000 - Sunrise EAP Total
Assets acquired:
ASSEES TECEIVADIE....cuiviicieti ettt et $ 464083 503 4,69
Other CUITENE ASSELS....c.ccreeerieriiieiirte e rt ettt an 81 — 81
FIXEA ASSELS .. evveueeereereirerieee ettt st ebe s sacire s et st sb e sme e sas e et enes 98 18 116
Costs in excess of net assets acqUITEd......co..ocovvvrvereeererneenieeee e s 9,780 931 10,721
COMITATES ....vevveerenrereviseeaeeteecene st ererea e b e srese s st et e be st ete et ae b et tebnenenbaeneaesenrbeane 526 — 526
15,135 999 16,134
Liabilities assumed .......oooviviiieiiiiicerrc ettt e 2,177 382 2,559
Subordinated convertible notes iSSUed.....c.coeveerreeienriiieirc e 3,600 400 4,000
CommOn SIOCK ISSUEA .....vveeeeeirerenieiie ettt e e soneste s e errin s — 46 46
Cash paid, net of cash acquired..........cooeueenee. et e et e ee e $ 9358 % 1718 9529
2001 Acquisitions
) ~ During 2001, the Company acquired four free-standing psychiatric facilities, three in Texas and one in North
134 1 ';Carohna All of the acquisitions were accounted for by the purchase method. The aggregate purchase price of these
itk - o ltransactions was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values. The
thi4 HERANE _‘consolidatéd financial statements include the accounts and operations of the acquired entities for periods subsequent
1Y " to the respective acquisition dates. The goodwill associated with these acquisitions is deductible for federal income
i 1 LR “!‘iax purposes.
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price of the aforementioned
acquisitions (in thousands):

West Oaks Texas Neuro

and Cypress . Rehab
2001 - . Creek HollyHill __ Center Total
Assets acquired: B '
ASSEts TECIVABIE ...oovviiiieiiieicee e $ 7,091 $ 1,617 $ 3400 § 12,108
Other CUITENE ASSELS.....viverereereeenieecriereseereeresnesenns A 244 99 154 497
FiXed ASSELS .vuviirreerer e ettt s e s esrreneens 6,833 6,264 4,738 17,835
Costs in excess of net assets acquired...........c.covereennn. — 403 135 538
14,168 8,383 8,427 30,978
Liabilities assumed .....cooovvveeeiiiienieeenceieeeee e 2,105 758 798 3,661
Subordinated convertible notes issued..........coeeuvienne. 2,000 — 2,500 4,500
Long-term debt issued .........ccooviiviiciinniiene 9,908 7.542 5,062 22,512
Cash paid, net of cash acquired........cccveiveevirirecrnenenrnnin, $ 155 § 83 $ 67 % 305

2002 Acquisitions

During 2002, the Company acquired one free-standing psychiatric hospital in Illinois (Riveredge Hospital). Also
during 2002, the Company merged with PMR Corporation a developer and manager of specialized mental health
programs and disease management services designed to treat individuals diagnosed with a serious mental illness.
The acquisition of the hospital and merger with PMR Corporation were accounted for as acquisitions by the
Company using the purchase method. The aggregate purchase price of these transactions was allocated to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values. The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts and operations of the acquired entities for periods subsequent to the respective acquisition
dates. As these transactions involved the acquisition of stock, the goodwill associated with these acquisitions is not
deductible for federal income tax purposes. The purchase of Riveredge included an escrow arrangement whereby the
Company has deposited $4.5 million of the purchase price with an escrow agent. The escrowed funds will be
released to the seller upon satisfaction of certain earnings targets and indemnification by the seller of certain claims
and cost report settlements. Any claims by the Company on these escrowed funds would affect the purchase price.
Approximately $1.5 million of these funds were released during 2002.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price of the aforementioned
acquisitions (in thousands):

2002 ’ Riveredge PMR Total
Assets acquired:
ACCOUNTS TECEIVADIE .. .evviiiiieiiii it eee et ee ettt see e s et aeessesnsreeees $ 4208 $ 121§ 4,329
Other CUITENE @SSELS...cuvrruieririieerirerirereereersirees e vestibaesasseseetreeresnssessrnnes 833 168 1,001
FIX O ASSEES ceunveieeteeeeeeeieeeeieeeeeeereretesreesereeesaseestesssasasaneeseteresaraetsenrasess 15,350 155 15,505
Costs in excess of net assets aCqUIred......cooovvvvvvveveeriienincenenie e 662 12,914 13,576
ORET ASSEES c..vvieieeereereete et et re st re et ere st e et s esste e b se et esaen stn e e e 100 357 457
21,153 13,715 34,868
Liabilities assumed ......ooovivviveeiviiiieiiiire e rreee ettt ssea e 4,289 4,573 8,862
Subordinated nOtES 1SSUEA.....ccviiiieieeee ettt ee et eese s 10,000 — 10,000
Long-term debt iSsued .........oc.ooeiiieie it 6,864 . — 6,864
© COMMON StOCK ISSUE . .....veeveoerecvesceeieee et — __ 15385 __ 15385
. Cash acquired, net of cash paid............ccccovniicniicccnien, $ — $ (6243) § (6.243)

"' The purchase price allocation for PMR is preliminary as of December 31, 2002 as the Company has not yet
completed its valuation of identifiable intangible assets acquired in the merger.
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Other Information

The following represents the unaudited pro forma results of consolidated operations as if the aforementioned
acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the immediate preceding period, after giving effect to certain
adjustments, including the depreciation and amortization of the assets acquired based upon their fair values and

" changes in interest expense resulting from changes in consolidated debt:

2002 2001 2000
REVEIUES .vvvieiiiiiectreeee ettt s v resnereae e s $ 141,075 $ 134,735 § 87,600
Income before extraordinary items .........cocoeveecerinireeienvarerereeeerneeanne 9,671 5,272 (2,671)
INEE INCOIMIE ..ttt ertere s et r et s e eteeerar s saeneeenestarsaesencbennanns 9,671 4,035 (2,671)
Earnings per common Share, basiC.......ccoc.eoevecriircrnrieeivcnciniinnesaenens 3 1.58 § 0.81 § (0.55)

The pro forma information gis/en does not purport to be indicative of what the Company’s results of operations
would have been if the acquisitions had in fact occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, and is not
intended to be a projection of the impact on future results or trends.

6. Long-term debt

Long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2002 2001
Debt payable to banks:
Revolving line of credit, expiring on November 30, 2004 and bearing interest at
the prime rate plus 2% (7.25% at December 31, 2002) ......ccccocinriiinnnieccnenenienen, $ 53835 11,150
Non-revolving line of credit, due on November 30, 2003 and bearing interest at
the prime rate plus 4.75% (10% at December 31, 2002)........c.cccovveneirnnnencncan 17,275 15,656
Mortgage loan on facility, maturing on December 1, 2037 and bearing a fixed
INLETESE TALE OF 5.95%0 o oovriieeiiieic v crree ettt e et e et e s s ae s ta e eta e e s aeneae s nnannes 4,928 —
Related party bridge loan (liquidation preference value of $1,000,000)..................... — 1,000
Subordinated convertible NOES .......cccvvieviiciiieri et 3,600 3,600
Subordinated promissory NOES .......cccoveeriiiiiiiinirii e - 12,538 4,880
OHET .ttt e et e e b s er e e b e e e r e e 98 52
43,822 36,338
LeSS CUTTENE POTHOM. ...c.cvrermctrieiremrrt st rece ettt eaes e e sore st et et r et sresenesane 7070 __15387
LONE-AEIII QOB oeevirrsceceeisere et bbb st cre e b cr et st enae $ 36,752 $§ 20951

2000 Senior Credit Facility

In conjunction with an acquisition in May 2000, the Amended Loan Agreement and the amounts outstanding
thereunder were replaced with a $17,500,000 senior credit facility (2000 Senior Credit Facility). The 2000 Senior
Credit Facility included two lines of credit: a $5,500,000 non-revolving term loan (2000 Term Loan) and a
$12,000,000 revolving working capital line of credit (2000 Revolver). Both lines of credit were collateralized by the
Company’s assets and stock of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Until the maturity date of the 2000 Revolver, the Company could borrow, repay and re-borrow an amount not to

o exceed the lesser of $12,000,000 or the Borrowing Base (the estimated net value of eligible accounts receivable, as

o deﬁned in the 2000 Senior Credit Facility, multiplied by 85%). The 2000 Revolver was due in full at maturity in
) ffMay 2005, with the exception of an Interim Availability Balance (as defined in the 2000 Senior Credit Facility) of
' approximatély $385,000, which was paid during 2001.
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Under the 2000 Revolver, all of the Company’s collections, except for Medicare and Medicaid, were deposited into
lockbox accounts controlled by the lender. The funds deposited into the lockbox accounts were applied to
outstanding borrowings with the lender on a daily basis.

The Company was required to pay an unused fee in the amount of .375% per year of the unused portion of the
2000 Senior Credit Facility. This fee was payable monthly in arrears on the first day of each calendar month. ’

In conjunction with the amendment dated August31, 2001, the Company borrowed an additional $3,500,000
under the 2000 Term Loan and $1,500,000 under a new Term Loan B. The 2000 Term Loan was to be repaid in
twenty equal quarterly installments commencing as of January 1, 2002. Prior to the amendment, the 2000 Term
Loan was payable in twenty quarterly installments of $275,000 beginning on June 30, 2000. In addition to' the
quarterly principal payments of the 2000 Term Loan, the Company was required to make additional principal
payments on the 2000 Term Loan in the amount of 30% of the Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the 2000 Senior
Credit Facility) within ninety days of each fiscal year end. The Term Loan B was to be repaid in equal monthly
installments commencing as of March 1, 2002, with final payment on August 1, 2003. Interest accrued on the 2000
Revolver was payable weekly. Interest accrued on the 2000 Term Loan and Term Loan B was payable monthly.

2001 Senior Credit Facility

In conjunction with an acquisition in November 2001, the 2000 Senior Credit Facility was replaced with a
$33,156,305 senior credit facility (2001 Senior Credit Facility). The 2001 Senior Credit Facility includes two lines
of credit: a $15,656,305 non-revolving term loan (2001 Term Loan) and a $17,500,000 revolving working capital

“line of credit (2001 Revolver). Both-lines of credit are collateralized by the Company’s assets and stock of the

Company’s subsidiaries.

Until the maturity date of the 2001 Revolver, the Company may borrow, repay and re-borrow an amount not to
exceed the lesser of $17,500,000 or the Borrowing Base (the estimated net collectible value of eligible receivables,
as defined in the 2001 Senior Credit Facility, multiplied by 85%). The 2001 Revolver is due in full at maturity in
November 2004. The available borrowings under the 2001 Revolver were $7,135,000 at December 31, 2002. The
2001 Term Loan is due in monthly installments of principal and interest, as well as an additional principle payment
equal to 50% of the Company’s excess cash flows for the year that is due within 30 days after preparation of the
Company’s audited financial statements, but in no event later than 145 days after year-end. Although the 2001 Term
Loan is due November 30, 2003, the terms of the agreement provide the Company with the option to extend the
maturity date by two years. Management intends to either exercise the option to extend the maturity date or to
refinance the amount outstanding prior to maturity. Accordingly, amounts due under the 2001 Term Loan have been

‘included in long-term debt on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Under the 2001 Revolver, all of the Company’s collections, except for Medicare and Medicaid, are deposited
into lockbox accounts controlled by the lender. The funds deposited into the lockbox accounts are applied to
outstanding borrowings with the lender on a daily basis. As such, the outstanding borrowings under the 2001
Revolver are classified as short term at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

The Company must pay an unused fee in the amount of 0.05% per month of the monthly unused portion of the
2001 Senior Credit Facility. This fee is payable monthly is arrears on the first day of each calendar month. Such fees
were approximately $50,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002, :

The 2001 Senior Credit Facility contains customary covenants which include (i) a specified monthly census

- required for any owned, operated or leased facilities of the Company, (ii) a limitation on capital expenditures, sales

of assets, mergers, changes of ownership and management, new lines of business and dividends, and (iii) various
financial covenants. o - .

At December 31, 2002, the Company was in compliance with all applicable debt covenant requirements.
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Extraordinary Item

Commensurate with the refinancing of the 2000 Senior Credit Facility, the Company expensed the remaining

deferred loan costs associated with this debt of $419,000 and incurred early termination penalties of $8 18 ,000,

resulting in an extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt of $1,237,000 at December 31, 2001.

Mortgage Loan Y
On November 25, 2002, the Company entered into a mortgage loan agreement to borrow $4,928,000 from the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), secured by real estate located at Holly Hill Hospital
in Raleigh, NC. Interest accrues on the HUD loan at 5.95% and principal and interest are payable in 420 monthly
installments through December 2037. The Company used proceeds from the loan to repay $4,385,000 of its 2001
Term Loan, pay certain refinancing costs, and fund required escrow amounts for future improvements to the
property. The carrying amount of assets held as collateral approximated $5,911,000 as of December 31, 2002,

Related Party Bridge Loan

In October 2000, the Company entered into subordinated notes totaling $1,000,000 with certain stockholders of
the Company (collectively referred to as the Bridge Loan). The Bridge loan bore interest at 10% payable monthly.
The proceeds were used to fund short-term working capital requirements. In April 2002, the Company refinanced
the Bridge loan with funds available under its 2001 Senior Credit Facility.

As consideration for the issuance of the Bridge Loan, the Company granted warrants (“Bridge Loan Warrants”)
to purchase 228,069 shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.03 per share. The carrying value of the Bridge
Loan was reduced by the fair market value of the Bridge Loan Warrants issued. The carrying value of the Bridge
Loan was accreted to its face value over the term of the Bridge Loan. Accretion of the Bridge Loan was $521,000,
$704,000 and $166,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Subordinated Convertible Notes

In connection with an acquisition during May 2000, the Company issued subordinated convertible notes payable
(Subordinated Convertible Notes). The Subordinated Convertible Notes mature and become immediately due and
payable upon the earlier of (i) sale of the Company (ii) any change of control as defined in the Subordinated
Convertible Notes, or (iii} the Company’s initial public offering of common stock. Interest accrues on the
Subordinated Convertible Notes at 9% and is payable May 1, 2005. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the
Company has accrued $864,000 and $540,000 of interest, respectively, which is included in other liabilities on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Any time until April 30, 2004, holders of the Subordinated Convertible Notes may convert the unpaid principal
balance, in increments of $1,000, into shares of the Company’s common stock based upon the following conversion
prices:

I
aE T
¢ . Conversion Date Conversion Price

P May 1, 2000 - APE30, 2001 .cciiieieseo oo $6.39 per share

1 May 1, 2001 « APTL 30, 2002 oorooooosoososeeessoseoeses e ees e $7.45 per share
-i:-May 1, 2002 - APKil 30, 2003.....omiiiiiriciiciens s $8.53 per share
i May 1, 2003 - April 30, 2004 $9.59 per share
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Subordinated Promissory Note

In connection with an acquisition in 2000, the Company issued a promissory note payable (Subordinated
Promissory Note) in the amount of $400,000 bearing interest at 9% for the year ended December 31, 2000. The
Subordinated Promissory Note matures in five equal annual installments beginning April 1, 2001. Accrued interest

" is due and payable on the first day of each calendar quarter beginning July 1, 2000.

In connection with two acquisitions in 2001, the Cpmpany issued promissory notes (Subordinated Promissory
Notes) totaling $4,500,000. A $2,500,000 Subordinated Promissory Note bore interest at 9% per annum and matured
June 30, 2002, with periodic interest payments due beginning December 31, 2001. The $2,000,000 Subordinated
Promissory Note bears interest at 9% per annum and matures June 30, 2005, with periodic principal and interest
payments due beginning September 30, 2002. The $2,500,000 Subordinated Promissory Note was repaid with
proceeds from debt issued in July 2002.

These Subordinated Promissory Notes contain customary covenants which include a cross default covenant with
the occurrence of a default of any indebtedness of at least $1,000,000 held by any creditor of the Company. As of
December 31, 2002, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.

Senior Subordinated Notes

On June 28, 2002, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with 1818 Mezzanine Fund Il, L.P.
{1818 Fund”) to issue up to $20 million of senior subordinated notes with detachable nominal warrants. At the
closing on June 28, 2002, a total of $10 million of the senior subordinated notes were issued. The notes have a term
of seven years and bear interest at 12% annually, payable quarterly. The notes provide for a prepayment penalty of
6%, 3% and 1% if the notes are prepaid prior to the first anniversary, second anniversary and third anniversary of
the closing date, respectively. The notes grant the holders the right to require prepayment in the event of a change of
control of the Company, subject to a prepayment penalty of 1% if redeemed on or before the third anniversary of the
closing date. The notes also contain customary covenants which include: (i) a specified monthly patient census for
any owned, operated or leased facilities, (ii) limitations on sales of assets (iii) maintenance of minimum interest
coverage, leverage and fixed charge ratios.

S S In connection with the issuance of the senior subordinated notes, the Company issued detachable stock purchase

warrants for the purchase of 372,412 shares of the Company’s stock at an exercise price of $.01 per share which
provide the holder with the ability to require the Company to repurchase their warrants or stock acquired upon
exercise of the warrants at fair market value for cash. The agreement provides the holder of the warrant to exercise
the warrant by payment of cash or delivery of shares. The warrants are exercisable over ten years from the effective
date. The initial value of the warrants of approximately $2,000,000 is being amortized to interest expense over the
term of the senior subordinated notes. As of December 31, 2002, the fair value of the warrants totaled approximately
$2.0 million and are included as a component of long term debt. Because the holder of the warrants has the ability to
require the Company to repurchase the warrants for cash, the warrants constitute a derivative which requires changes
in value of the warrants to be recorded as an increase or decrease to earnings. For each $1 increase in stock price, the
Company will be required to record non cash expense of approximately $372,500. The stock purchase warrants
contain provisions that allow the issuer to “put” their warrants, or stock after exercise, back to the Company at fair
market value for cash or for the deliverance of shares. The put price under the agreement would approximate $2
million or require the deliverance of 371,841 shares as of December 31, 2002. )
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The aggregate maturities of long-term debt, are as follows (in thousands):

7. Preferred Stock

Upon the merger with PMR Corporation on August 5, 2002, the Company’s Preferred Stock converted to post
merger Common Stock at rates of 0.246951 and 0.312864 for Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred
Stock, respectively. All periods prior to August 5, 2002 have been retroactively restated to reflect conversion at the
applicable conversion rates. The Company had outstanding 10,497,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and
4,975,736 shares of Series B Preferred Stock at December 31, 2001.

8. Leases

At December 31, 2002, future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable leases are as follows (in

thousands):
2003 ettt st et et et et e et a Rt an e st ke naas £ Rt <A et rate R n ek et et an R et nen s e s s annernseneennae 3 862
S 2004 ... sttt et et e e et e e bt Akt b bttt eR e as e eh et rA e e b e e et e Re S ran s et eee e ke e rennee e e eereas 648
e 2005 ettt ettt ettt et L et h bRt £ e SR ARk e bk R et aa et R et he e e bt s b e rer et sanebe bt et ra s 332
o 2000 ..o cceete ettt s re et r e h S E e 4R g ek e €1k e e e a et et e e e e eRees b aee s e e enaeeneenbee e en s 281
2007 creeeeeee ettt er et ettt ettt e s ek st e s st e ea £ a e e s s Rt n ke e R ate ekt bene et ntbere s e s ereenns 180
TOtAL .ottt ettt et ar et et et en ettt st st e aea s bt nek g bt e e s et eate £t e nnearneent s annas 3 2303

Rent expense totaled $870,000 and $536,000 for December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

9. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

2002 2001
~ Current: .

FEACTAL ...ttt eee et e e e et et eete et s e st s eat e st s st ebbeabesresm b eesssaasastesntenessamansesneenssesaaneeen 3 — $—

R 72} (R USSP UU OO UUPOSRS 323

323

Il

Deferred:
FRAEIAL ...ttt ettt eb st e e et et e st ke sa et e et sar e e et et ene ek ae e em et ek e erant et en et anrnens (1,192)
....................................................................................................................................... {138)
' ' . (1,330)
....................................................................................................... $ (1,007

IVl
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The reconciliation of income tax computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory rate to the actual income tax
(benefit) expense attributable to continuing operations is as follows (in thousands):

2002 2001

FOABTAL 18X .iiiivieiiieie i ciiiee ettt sttt e te et be st etae e staesabsetesesstessteesnessaressnesaneesas $ 1,590 9 842
.. . State income taxes (net of federal) ........o.ooviiioniiiiiiiin e, e 179 . 98
Nondeductible goodwill AMOTtZAtION ......cvcccivecrir et — 87
Change in valuation allowance (2,809  (1,043)
ORI ...ttt s e heeer e eee et e st s et sttt sae b s e rnans 33 16

K

Total tax expense (benefit) .......cccooveerevrrirererivirennn.s, ettt e ean st e et e e e e e et e reaesranean $ (1,007) $ —

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The tax effects of
significant items comprising the Company’s temporary differences are as follows (in thousands):

2002 2001

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating 108S CarryfOrWards ..........cocovvinierienrinieiieiensee et ee e ee st e eeneeseaenn $ 6,296 § 2,656

Allowance for doubtful aCCOUNTS ........coovevriiiierieeieee et s e eres 904 1,045

PaNeed g LoTe B B T o1 L =T J USSR VRSO ORURRORUONt 1,176 419
Total gross deferred taX SSELS .....occvirvivriiieir oo rtrs e st e et rs b et sreesseeseensens 8,376 4,120

Less: Valuation allOWAICE ......ccocviivviiieeececr et e et ee st s seeataesaminessns (5,860) _ (3.890)
Total deferred 1aK ASSeIS.. . ciiii et eeee et s ren e 2,516 230
Deferred tax liabilities:

AMOTHZALION c.ceviieiiieiieeiie ettt et e re e sae e e ere st st et b se e e emnesaranen (611) (438)

DEPIECIALION . ... . cetevitieiiteie et et n ettt sttt eae b ettt seree ettt et st e e en e st cnesee et s (2,111) (81)

(@131 =3 U O OO R P T T U R PO (52) (94
Net deferred tax asset (HaDILEY) ...c.ooveveiirieeire st e seeas e e errens 3 (258) 8 (383)

Management has evaluated the need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and believes that certain
deferred tax assets will more likely than not be realized through the future reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences and future earnings of the Company. In the fourth quarter of the year ending December 31, 2002, the
valuation allowance was reduced by $1.3 million, resulting in a corresponding credit to deferred income tax
expense. This adjustment reflected a change in circumstances which resulted in a judgment that a corresponding
amount of the Company’s deferred tax assets will be realized in future years. The valuation allowance increased by
approximately $2 million during the year ending December 31, 2002 as a result of the following itemns (in
thousands):

Valuation allowance at December 31, 2000 .......ooviiiiiiiiiee et 3 (3,890)
Current year temporary differences. .. ....ocuivviiiinii e et e e 1,478
Valuation allowance recorded against acquired PMR net deferred tax asset.......c.cccocvnvevvenccannne. (5,860)
Release of valuation allowance recorded as purchase accounting adjustments ......c.cccoeeveiceeeennnn. 1,081
Release of valuation allowance recorded as a deferred tax benefit...........ccoovivviericeviecinvecccneeeeennans 1,331
Valuation allowance at December 31, 2002..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitce e 3 (5.860)

As of December 31, 2002 the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $15.7 million expiring in
the years 2012 through 2022. ' )

10. Stock Option Plans
During 1997, the Company and its stockholders adopted the 1997 Incentive and Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
for Key Personnel (the “1997 Key Personnel Plan”). The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock

to be issued under the 1997 Key Personnel Plan shall not exceed 331,712. Shares issued under the 1997 Key
Personnel Plan may be in the form of incentive stock options or non-qualified options to officers, employers and

F-21




PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS, INC. .
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
December 31, 2002

directors. The exercise price per share determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the
“Committee”) generally is not less than fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Stock options
shall become exercisable in whole or in part on such date or dates as determined by the Committee at the date of
grant. Options granted generally vest and are exercisable ratably by the respective grantee over a four-year period
beginning on the date of grant. Each option shall generally expire ten years from the grant date.

Upon the merger with PMR Corporation on August 5, 2002, the Company acquired PMR Corporation’s 1997
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “1997 Equity Incentive Plan”). The 1997 Equity Incentive Plan provides for
the granting of options to purchase up to 1,333,333 shires of common stock to eligible employees. Under the 1997
Equity Incentive Plan, options may be granted for terms of up to ten years and are generally exercisable in
cumulative annual increments of 25% each year, commencing one year after the date of grant. Option prices must
equal or exceed the fair market value of the common shares on the date of grant.

Also upon the merger with PMR Corporation on August 5, 2002, the Company acquired PMR Corporation’s
Qutside Directors’ Non-qualified Stock Option Plan of 1992 (the “1992 Directors’ Plan”). The 1992 Directors’ Plan
provides for the Company to grant each outside director options to purchase 5,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock annually at the fair market value at the date of grant. As amended, options for a maximum of 341,666
shares may be granted under this plan. The options vest 33%. immediately and in ratable annual increments over the
three-year period following the date of grant.

During 2002, the Company recognized $118,000 compensation expense related to stock options issued to certain
officers and employees with exercise prices below fair market value.

Stock option activity, including options granted for acquisitions, is as follows (number of options in thousands):

Weighted
Number Average
of Option Exercise

Options Exercise Price Price
Balance at December 31, 1999.......ccceriiiiiiice v 202 $0.87t0 $3.04 § 1.56
GIADIEA .o ccrieeeieeeesiee et reetrresvscvtessssssessvssiasestssssressrasnsans 85 $3.04 $ 3.04
Canceled......o.oeiieveceieiecr ettt e (47) $087t0 $3.04 § 226
EXEICISEA .. eeiree ittt creeee e st es e s eaesestesssnescotrenresesansesnns e (3) 9$087tc $3.04 §$§ 1.74
Balance at December 31, 2000.........cooooieveniinceeeniin e 237 $0.87to $3.04 § 2.00
GEANLEA....veivieiiiieeteee e sv et ese et e sateensebestessseessersaneetesssaseeneens 35 $3.04 $ 3.04
CaNCEIEd. ...ttt e es (54) $0.87t0 $3.04 § 261
| 25 (o1 11 SO OO OOU SOOI (4) $087t0 $304 3 1.04
Balance at December 31, 2001 .......covvviiviieeiiiieece e ereeceee e 214 $0.87t0 $304 § 2.08
GIANTEA ....ceeoeeeieiereeeeet ettt ettt ter et st e b e ettt et e s e e e sreans 515 $0.87t0 $550 § 5.07
Stock options acquired ... 408  $4.50t0 $30.00 § 17.10
CanCeled.....cooveiiiieciereeei et s rnan (26) $0.87to0 $29.25 § 4.28
BXEICISEA ccoveieeereeeiiriie ettt et e e s e aeaee st m s e s estea e sereseraaaans (38) $0.87t0 $3.04 $ 1.14

Balance at December 31, 2002......ccoooviivvviicrieveeecceeeeesieeenese s 1,073 $0.87t0 $30.00 § 9.21
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The following table summarizes information conceming outstanding and exercisable options at December 31,
2002 (number of options in thousands).

_Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable

Number Weighted Avg. Weighted Number

~ Qutstanding at Remaining Average Exercisable
- - December 31, Contractual Exercise - “at December

Exercise Prices 2002 Life Price 31,2002
$ 0.87t0% 3.03 ., - 97 6.48 $ 0.87 80
$ 3.04t0F 450 e, 123 7.81 $ 331 64
$ 451108 550, 496 9.54 $ 500 45
$ 5511081163 e, 70 6.80 $ 9.18 70
$11.64t0821.38 i, 205 4.99 $§ 18.73 205
$21.39 0% 30.00 oo 82 5.96 $ 26.98 82
$ 0.87t0$530.00 i, 1,073 $ 13.20 546

11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company adopted the Psychiatric Solutions, Inc., Retirement Savings Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is a tax-
qualified profit sharing plan with a cash or deferred arrangement whereby employees who have completed two
months of service and are age 21 or older are eligible to participate. The plan allows eligible employees to make
contributions of 1% to 15% of their annual compensation. The plan includes a discretionary company matching
contribution not to exceed 15% of eligible employee compensation. Employer contributions vest 20% after two
years of service and continue vesting at 20% per year until fully vested. At December 31, 2002 the Company has
accrued an employer matching contribution of $164,000, which was paid during the first quarter of 2003. There
were no employer contributions to the plan during 2001.

12. Contingencies and Healthcare Regulation

Contingencies

The Company is subject to various claims and legal actions which arise in the ordinary course of business. The
Company has professional liability insurance to protect against such claims or legal actions. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate resolution of such matters will be adequately covered by insurance and will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Employment Agreements

Effective January 1, 2002, and amended and restated effective August 6, 2002, the Company entered into an
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Joey Jacobs, Chief Executive Officer. Mr Jacobs® agreement
provides for an annual base salary and an annual cash incentive compensation award tied to objective criteria as
established by the board of directors. The employment agreement has an initial term of one year and is subject to
automatic annual renewals absent prior notice from either party.

: Mr. Jacobs’ employment agreement provides for various payments to Mr. Jacobs upon cessation of employment,

depending’ on the circumstances. If the Company terminates Mr. Jacobs’s employment “without cause” or if he
i resxgns pursuant to a constructive discharge, then (i) all options scheduled to vest during the succeeding 24 month
! penod will immediately vest, (ii) any restricted stock will immediately vest, (iii) Mr. Jacobs will receive a cash
payment equal o 200% of his base salary and bonus earned during the twelve months prior to termination, and (iv)
* all-benefits and perquisites will continue for 18 months. In the event of a change in control, his employment
agreement requires that the Company pay him 200% of his base salary and bonus earned in the twelve months prior
to termination and to continue all benefits and perquisites for 18 months.
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Effective October 1, 2002, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Jack Salberg, Chief
Operating Officer. Mr. Salberg’s agreement provides for an annual base salary and an annual cash incentive
compensation award tied to objective criteria established by the board of directors. The employment agreement had
an initial term of 15 months, subject to automatic annual renewals absent prior notice from either party.

" . - Mr. Salberg's employmerit ‘agréement provides for various payments to Mr. Salberg upon cessation of

employment, depending upon the circumstances. If the Company terminates Mr. Salberg’s employment without
cause or if he resigns pursuant to a constructive discharge, then (i) all options scheduled to vest during the
succeeding 18 months will immediately vest, (ii) any testricted stock will immediately vest, (iii) Mr. Salberg will
receive a cash payment equal to 150% of his base salary and bonus earned in 12 months prior to termination, and
(iv) all benefits and perquisites will continue for 18 months. If Mr. Salberg is terminated after a change in control of
the Company, his employment agreement requires the Company to pay him a cash amount equal to 150% of his
base salary and bonus earned during the 12 months prior to termination and to continue all benefits and perquisites
for 18 months.

Capital projects

The Company is currently under contract with a software provider to replace certain information systems at
owned facilities. The amount committed under the contract is approximately $504,000 as of December 31, 2002.

Current Operations

Final determination of amounts earned under prospective payment and cost-reimbursement activities is subject to
review by appropriate governmental authorities or their agents. In the opinion of the Company’s management,
adequate provision has been made for any adjustments that may result from such reviews.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.
The Company believes that it is in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and is not aware of any
pending or threatened investigations involving allegations of potential wrongdoing. While no such regulatory
inquiries have been made, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review

and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exclusion from the Medicare

and Medicaid programs.

The Company has acquired and may continue to acquire professional corporations with prior operating histories.
Acquired corporations may have unknown or contingent liabilities for failure to comply with health care laws and
regulations, such as billing and reimbursement, fraud and abuse and similar anti-referral laws. Although the
Company attempts to assure itself that no such liabilities exist and obtains indemnification from prospective sellers
covering such matters, there can be no assurance that any such matter will be covered by indemnification or, if

_coyvered, that the liability sustained will not exceed coniractual limits or the financial capacity of the indemnifying

13. Related Party Transactions

o Durmg 2001 and 2000, the Company leased office space from a company whose chief executive officer is Dr.
ichard Treadway, the former chairman of the Company’s board of directors. The term of the lease was from May

‘ 1"_'6, 1999 to July 2002 and was terminated on December 7, 2001. Rent expense for this space totaled $142,154 for

: . the yeat ended December 31, 2001. The Company believes the terms of this lease were at fair market value.

o Cufrently the Company leases 7,745 square feet of office space for its executive offices from a company in
which Dr.-Treadway is a minority investor: The lease was entered into in October 2001 and has a term of

:_approximately six years. The annual rent under this lease is approximately $492,000. The Company believes the
127 terms of this lease are at fair market value.
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Joey Jacobs, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, serves as'a member of the board of directors of Stones
River Hospital, a hospital in which the Company manages a unit pursuant to a management agreement. The term of
the third amendment to the management agreement is two years, and automatically renews for one year terms unless
terminated by either party. Total revenue from this management agreement was $808,000 for the year ended

.December 31, 2002. The Company believes -the terms of the-management-agreement are consistent with
management agreements negotiated at arms-length.

Jack Salberg, the Company’s Chief Operating Officer, served as a minority owner and member of the board of
directors of the entity which owned Riveredge Hospital prior to its acquisition by the Company during 2002. Mr
Salberg disclosed his interest to the board of directors and was not directly involved in the negotiations to acquire
the hospital . The Company believes that the purchase price it paid for the Riveredge acquisition constituted its best
estimate of fair value. All terms were negotiated on an arms-length basis.

Edward Wissing, a director of the Company, occasionally provides advisory and consulting services during 2002
to Brentwood Capital Advisors, the Company’s financial advisor. Mr. Wissing also is a party to a consulting
arrangement with Brentwood Capital pursuant to which he provides certain consulting services. According to the
terms of this consulting arrangement, Mr. Wissing received a fixed consulting fee of $5,000 per month beginning in
August 2002 and ending in May 2003.

14. Segment Information

The Company’s facilities and management contracts comprising the Freestanding Specialty Hospitals and
Psychiatric Unit Management divisions, respectively are each similar in their activities and the economic
environments in which they operate. Accordingly, the Company’s reportable operating segments consist of (1)
Freestanding Specialty Hospitals and (2), Psychiatric Unit Management. Prior to the acquisitions of the Company’s
facilities in the third and fourth quarters of 2001 and third quarter of 2002, management had determined that the
Company did not have separately reportable segments as defined under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

The following is a financial summary by business segment for the periods indicated. EBITDA represents income
from continuing operations before interest expense (net of interest income), income taxes, depreciation,
amortization. EBITDA is commonly used as an analytical indicator within the healthcare industry and serves as a
measure of leverage capacity and debt service ability. EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of financial
performance under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and the items excluded in
determining EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing financial performance. Because
neither is a measurement determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, it is susceptible to varying calculations, and as a result our calculation of EBITDA as presented may not be
comparable to EBITDA or other similarly titled measures used by the companies (in thousands):
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Year ended December 31, 2002

Freestanding Psychiatric
' Specialty Unit Corporate -~
Hospitals Management and Other Consolidated
REVEIIUE ...ooveivievririisiierneeaerietrnseseesaesnassesssessassaansesserassessenns $ 81,929 $ 31983 § — § 113912
Salaries, wages-and employee benefits ’ i C 47,0507 713,184 2,092 62,326
Professional fees..........coeoveveiiicirievinreee e 10,267 3,543 563 14,373
Other operating eXpenses........c.ceoevveerrerenenieraraserenes 11,754 8,050 1,717 21,521
Provision for bad debts.........ccocovviviirireiiirnc, 3,467 214 — 3,681
EBITDA ...ttt ete et 9,391 6,992 (4,372) 12,011
Depreciation and amortization...........cccceeverecrerenrenreneseenes 1,286 379 105 1,770
INEETESt EXPENSE ..vovvvererereeeiieerrreenaerasrsreeseeeemeeeeaeerraensesnes 3,375 325 1,864 5,564
Inter-Segment EXPENSES.......ecccurorerservresesrcrssensreressassseessnanes 3,149 902 (4,051) o
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
BAXES 1reveeeeerreeeeteesieeseeseesssetssaessesesssesresssentarssessasssensesnsansenes $ 1,581 $ 5386 § (2290) § 4677
SEEMENL ASSELS .....cvevveeeeicrirecneritereteeren s eseasereseeneseeneteenraeseas T 51.004 ¥ 3301Z ¥ 6122 § 90138
Capital eXpenditures .........ccoeevvumrecrrirncerieeseseneseereseeeneenens 3 16,092 b [7T 3622 §F 16,885
Cost in excess of net assets acquired ...........cccoeecvrrvcrsrnnnas T 1238 $ 27580 F 4 T J88IZ
Year ended December 31, 2001
Freestanding Psychiatric
Specialty Unit Corporate
Hospitals Management and Other Consolidated
REVEDUE .....oooiieeceicreetee et e raeveetesneresnsereeetssesessseneseneenns $ 16,020 $ 27979 § — $ 43,999
Salaries, wages and employee benefits............cccoccverennee 9,463 15,462 1,258 26,183
Professional fees ........cccoovvcniinieniincreene e 2,610 4,115 315 7,040
Other Operating eXpenSses. ......cuvrerereieererereeseneeseesssanseraens 2,171 1,656 456 4,283
Provision for bad debts .........covnviriniiiicinececicn s 385 277 — 662
EBITDA ...ttt et etee e 1,391 6,469 (2,029) 5,831
Depreciation and amortization...........cccvvniniceniniin e ‘ 170 718 56 944
INtEIESt EXPEISE .ouvoveeeereieereeteereresnesnsieesereeeeeenereneeeeerreeeen 533 324 1,803 2,660
Inter-segment EXPENSES. ....ouvuerivuismveisiniirintinresreaeanareseanees 448 1,773 8 (2.221) —
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income -
BAX c1vrerierreeteereresrsbesrese et et et eaeabe et et st enee s heset R e aeneseenesneene $ 240 $ 3654 § (1e67) $ 2227
SegmeEnt @SSELS ...euiiviciriiiintie e ¥ 3T47T §20394 ¥ 724729 § 547294
. Capital eXpendifires .......covoeeeeeerrirereeerieeneeereceereeniseeeecenes 3 18373 ¥ — § 116 7 18489
. Cost.in excess of net assets acquired ........c.cccoevrrerevernrnenes § 338 F 14666 I 4 TF 137208
15. Other Information
A summary of activity in the Company’s allowance for bad debts follows (in thousands):
Balances Additions Additions Accounts written Balances
at beginning charged to costs charged to off, net of atend
of period and expenses other accounts (1) recoveries of period

02000 ... $ 367 467 1,818 - 209 $ 2,443
Year ended December 31,

S 2443 662 921 86 3,940
1Year ended December 31,
3,681 461 2,798 5,284
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16. Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

Summarized results for each quarter in the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows (in
thousands, except per share data):

1" Quarter 2" Quarter 3" Quarter 4™ Quarter

2002 .
REVEIUE .....oovviiiiieeieeeec e ‘ $ 23,188 $ 22,622 $ 32,280 § 35,822
NEtINCOME ... eeve e o8 755 8 857 $§ 1,606 § 2466
Net income per share:
BAaSIC ovieieiereieieiee ettt st $ 015 $ 017 § 024 § 032
DIuted ..ot $ 014 $ 016 § 022 & 030
2001 :
REVENUE ....voviiveiiteeeceeeeett ettt ns s sascre s $ 7,218 8§ 7,176 $§ 9944 § 19,661
Income from continuing operations.......c..coeeccvererene $ 583 % 567 ¥ 380 S 697
Income (loss) from discontinued operations............ b 57§ 273 $ 1429 3 57
Income before extraordinary item..........occcvevennne. $ 526§ 840 $ 1,809 $ 640
Loss from early retirement of debt ..........cccoevenenen. $ — 3 —  § — % (1,237)
Net income (1088) ..o $ 326 % 840 $§ 1809 $ (597)
Income before extraordinary item per share:
BASIC 1uviviiietee et e esn s $ 010 $ 017 § 036 $§ 013
DIEd oo et $ 010 $ o016 § 032 $ 012

17. Subsequent Events (Unaudited)

The Brown Schools Acquisition. On February 13, 2003, Psychiatric Solutions signed a definitive agreement for
the purchase of six psychiatric facilities from The Brown Schools, Inc. for $63 million in cash. The six facilities,
which have an aggregate of 790 beds, are located in Austin, San Antonio and San Marcos, Texas; Charlottesville,
Virginia; Colorado Springs, Colorado; and Tulsa, Oklahoma. For 2002, the facilities produced combined revenues
of $76 million. Psychiatric Solutions expects to consummate the transaction, which is subject to customary closing
conditions, on April I, 2003.

$25 Million Private Placement Of Convertible Preferred Stock. On February 4, 2003 Psychiatric Solutions’
_ stockholders approved the private placement of $25 million of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the
Ry .~ “preferred stock”) with affiliates of Oak Investment Partners and Salix Ventures and with Brown Brothers Harriman
! & Co.’s The 1818 Mezzanine Fund II, L.P. The investors are current investors in Psychiatric Solutions, with Oak
Investment Partners and Salix Ventures (or related entities) being among the co-founders of Psychiatric Solutions.
Representatives of Salix Ventures and Brown Brothers Harriman currently serve on our Board of Directors. A
representative of Oak Investment is expected to be named to the Company’s Board of Directors during the first
quarter of 2003. We intend to use the net proceeds from the preferred stock primarily to fund acquisitions of
freestanding psychiatric patient facilities. The preferred stock will be issued in two phases: One half will be issued
on April 1, 2003, and one-half will be issued on July 1, 2003.

. HUD Refinancing. Psychiatric Solutions is in the process of refinancing a portion of its senior credit facility with

: ':vanous loans guaranteed by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). These loans are

i ;expected to be in the aggregate amount of approximately $25.0 million and will be secured by real estate and other

-ifixed assets of West Oaks Hospital, Cypress Creek Hospital, Riveredge Hospital and Texas NeuroRehab Center.

r l;Thls refinancing is expected to close in four installments (one per hospital). The first installment, Holly Hill

;-fiHE)épital, closed November 25, 2002. Management anticipates that this refinancing will result in annual interest
P expense savings of approximately $420,000.
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